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The State of Ohio, 
} SS.

 

INDICTMENT FOR: Engaging in a Pattern of Corrupt 

Activity with Specifications (ORC 2923.32) (F1) (1 Count); 

Bribery (ORC 2921.02) (F3) (1 Count); Bribery 

(ORC 2921.02) (F3) (1 Count); Aggravated Theft of One 

Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars or More (ORC 

2913.02) (F1) (1 Count); Aggravated Theft of One Million 

Five Hundred Thousand Dollars or More (ORC 2913.02) 

(F1) (1 Count); Telecommunications Fraud (ORC 2913.05) 

(F1) (1 Count); Money Laundering (ORC 1315.55) (F3) (4 

Counts); Money Laundering (ORC 1315.55) (F3) (4 

Counts); Tampering with Records (ORC 2913.42) (F3) (8 

Counts); Aggravated Theft (ORC 2913.02) (F2) (1 Count); 

Aggravated Theft (ORC 2913.02) (F2) (1 Count); 

Telecommunications Fraud (ORC 2913.05) (F1) (2 Counts); 

Grand Theft (ORC 2913.02) (F4) (1 Count).  Total: 27 

Counts. 

Summit County 

Grand Jury Term 

Beginning  

Count One Engaging in a Pattern of Corrupt Activity, §2923.32, F1 

Defendants Samuel Randazzo, Michael J. Dowling, Charles E. Jones, IEU-Ohio 

Administration Co. LLC, Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio, Inc. 

Date of Offense On or about 1/18/2010 through 1/22/2021 

The Jurors of the Grand Jury of the State of Ohio, duly selected, impaneled, sworn and 

charged to inquire of crimes and offenses committed within the body of Summit County and/or 

Franklin County, in the State of Ohio, upon their oath do find and present that in a continuing course 

of conduct Samuel Randazzo, Michael J. Dowling, Charles E. Jones, IEU-Ohio Administration Co. 

LLC, and Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio, Inc. late of said County/s, on or between 

1/18/2010 through 1/22/2021, within the County/s aforesaid, in violation of 2923.32(A)(1), 

2923.32(B)(1) of the Ohio Revised Code in a continuing course of conduct, while employed by, or 

associated with, any enterprise did conduct or participate in, directly or indirectly, the affairs of the 

enterprise through a pattern of corrupt activity or the collection of an unlawful debt, to wit:  

During the period January 18, 2010 through January 22, 2021, the individuals listed below 

engaged in criminal activity by acting individually and collectively in a largescale covert scheme to 

corrupt the Chairman of the Ohio Public Utilities Commission (“PUCO”), steal millions of dollars of 

cash from a large publicly traded electric utility, forge a spurious contract to conceal a cash “side 

deal” in a PUCO ratemaking case, steal millions of dollars from a non-profit trade group representing 

large industrial energy users, and tamper with government records involving financial public 

disclosures and disclosures of the identities of paid lobbyists.  
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CAST OF CHARACTERS 

 

FirstEnergy Corporation (“FirstEnergy”) was and is one of the largest and most powerful 

corporations in America.  Its ten companies stretch from the Ohio-Indiana border to New Jersey and 

Maryland.  When it set out to buy the part of Ohio government that it cared about the most in 2018, it 

was #216 on the Fortune 500. 

 

At that time, FirstEnergy included similarly named companies, including FirstEnergy Solutions (FE 

Solutions) and FirstEnergy Service (FE Service).  FE Solutions owned two nuclear power plants that 

generated huge amounts of electricity, but were losing money. FE Services was a business unit that 

handled administrative matters for the ten different FE companies in various states. 

 

Charles “Chuck” Jones was the CEO of FirstEnergy Corporation. 

 

Michael Dowling was the Senior Vice President of External Affairs.  His job was to direct lobbying 

and strategy for FirstEnergy, dealing with the federal and multiple state governments. 

 

Sam Randazzo was a high-powered lawyer who was paid millions of dollars by FirstEnergy during 

the 2010s. He eventually became the Chairman of the Public Utilities of Ohio and served inside the 

government as a clandestine lobbyist for FirstEnergy. 

 

Industrial Energy Users-Ohio (IEU-Ohio) was a non-profit trade association made up of large energy 

users focused on lowering their energy costs. Sam Randazzo was the general counsel and controlled 

their books. 

 

Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio, Inc. (SFA) was a shell company, solely owned by Sam 

Randazzo. It had no other employees.  Randazzo used it to carry out and conceal the crimes in this 

indictment. Its income went to him and his wife. 

 

IEU-Ohio Administration Company, LLC (IEU Administration) was another shell company solely 

owned by Sam Randazzo, and like SFA, it was used to commit and conceal the crimes in this 

indictment.  Also, like SFA, its income was Randazzo’s income. 

 

The Public Utilities Commission of Ohio (“PUCO”) is a five-member governmental board, appointed 

by the governor, that regulates utilities and their operational and financial affairs.  Its most powerful 

member is the Chairman, who is a full-time executive that directs staff and controls the meeting 

agenda.  Sam Randazzo would take that seat and use the power of the government to commit some of 

the crimes in this indictment. 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

 Charles “Chuck” Jones, Michael Dowling and Sam Randazzo were literally as thick as 

thieves.  Together, they would steal money from FirstEnergy, write legislative provisions worth 

unearned millions of dollars to FirstEnergy, legally guarantee continued FirstEnergy’s profitability 

and take over the state government in a way that allowed FirstEnergy to regulate itself. 
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 Sam Randazzo would further steal money from his clients, structure financial transactions in 

such a way as to avoid detection, lie during testimony to the General Assembly, and put a halt to a 

scheduled rate case before the PUCO that would have produced unwelcome scrutiny of FirstEnergy’s 

profitability, and likely would have resulted in an order to decrease FirstEnergy’s rates. 

 

 It all began with a well-lawyered theft in 2010. 

 

 Randazzo at the time was representing IEU-Ohio, a group of companies that bought large 

amount of electricity from FirstEnergy, and who felt they were paying too much.  He would 

eventually settle the companies’ claims against FirstEnergy, but in 2010, he transferred their rights to 

his two shell companies—a document called an “assignment.”  The legal language of the assignment 

made it clear that FirstEnergy wanted it this way, and implied that there would be no money unless it 

went through Randazzo’s two shell companies. It also made the assignment “irrevocable.” 

 

 Sam Randazzo signed the assignment three times: once for IEU-Ohio--the trade association of 

companies he was supposed to be representing--and once for each of his shell companies.  Randazzo 

was on all sides of the transaction. 

 

 His clients, the industrial members of IEU-Ohio, did not know he was a consultant for 

FirstEnergy.  Randazzo did not tell them.  Years later, some of the money would make its way to 

IEU-Ohio.  Some of it would end up in Randazzo’s pocket. 

 

 Randazzo worked in the background with FirstEnergy through the decade, receiving millions 

of dollars for “consulting services.”  An agreement of 2013 provided for Randazzo’s shell company 

SFA to receive $2,100,000 between 2013 and 2017.  It was amended in 2015 to increase the amount 

of money and the length of time Randazzo would serve FirstEnergy until 2024. 

 

 The 2015 amended agreement also required FE Service executives and SFA—that is, 

Randazzo—to lobby the President of the Ohio Senate and the Speaker of the Ohio House of 

Representatives.  

  

  In 2018, with a newly elected Governor, FirstEnergy saw the opportunity to put its loyally 

corrupt agent inside the new government, running the very agency designed to keep FirstEnergy 

accountable.  In January 2019, FirstEnergy agreed to pay out in full Randazzo’s consulting services 

contract just before he was nominated to run the PUCO.  It was not a gift: Randazzo would work hard 

for FirstEnergy from inside the government.  He did not disclose his relationship, going so far as to lie 

about it in testimony to the General Assembly and failing to disclose to the Ohio Ethics Commission 

the massive sums of money he’d received from the company he would soon regulate. 

 

 Randazzo took the helm of the PUCO on April 11, 2019, while continuing to serve as an 

unregistered lobbyist for his former employer. He would write parts of a law that would send millions 

of dollars in subsidies to FirstEnergy for its nuclear power plants, which FirstEnergy claimed were 

losing money. He wrote other parts of the same law that would legally guarantee the investor-owned 

FirstEnergy’s profits at the level of 2018—a very good year for FirstEnergy. Both these provisions 

were contained in the law known as House Bill 6. 
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 And he used his powerful chairmanship of the PUCO to scuttle a rate case that was scheduled 

for 2024.  If that case had gone forward, it would have likely resulted in a PUCO order to lower 

FirstEnergy’s rates. 

 

 Through it all, Jones and Dowling directed and funded Randazzo and FirstEnergy’s squad of 

other lobbyists. They reveled in their access to power and their ability to corrupt the legislature and 

their regulators.   

 

 Both men profited personally as the price of their FirstEnergy Stock rose from a low of $28.83 

on May 5, 2017 to $50.47 on January 23, 2020—a 57% increase in less than three years.  During that 

time, the nuclear subsidy and guaranteed-profit provisions had become law, and Randazzo had killed 

the 2024 rate case. 

 

 On November 22, 2019 Chuck Jones texted Randazzo a screen shot of FirstEnergy’s stock 

price and thanked him. “My mom taught me to say Thank You,” he wrote. 

 

 These three men and their organizations formed the core of a corrupt enterprise that operated 

in violation of Ohio law, and their actions are the basis for the twenty-seven counts that follow in this 

indictment. 

 

THE ENTERPRISE 

 

 This Enterprise is an association and/or organization and/or a group of persons and/or 

companies associated in fact, although not a legal entity, including but not limited to Charles Jones 

(former CEO of FirstEnergy Corp.), Michael Dowling (former Senior Vice President of External 

Affairs for FirstEnergy Corp.), Samuel C. Randazzo (former General Counsel of Industrial Energy 

Users of Ohio, Chairman of the PUCO, and owner of shell companies Sustainability Financing 

Alliance of Ohio, Inc. and IEU-Ohio Administration Company, LLC), Sustainability Funding 

Alliance of Ohio, Inc. (a for-profit company wholly owned by Randazzo that functioned as an S 

Corporation), and IEU-Ohio Administration, LLC (a Limited Liability Corporation wholly owned by 

Randazzo that functioned as a Schedule C Corporation), and others known and not known all of 

whom are persons associated with the Enterprise (collectively, “Persons associated with the 

Enterprise” or “Persons”). This Enterprise existed as an “Association in Fact Enterprise” under R.C. 

Section 2932.32 because it: (1) was an ongoing organization with a commonality of purpose or a 

guiding mechanism to direct the organization or (2) was a continuing unit with an ascertainable 

structure and/or (3) had an organizational structure that was distinct from the pattern of predicate acts. 

As an alternative to point (3), this Enterprise is an illicit enterprise under R. C. Section 2932.32 

because it had an organizational structure distinct from the pattern of predicate acts whether or not 

this enterprise performed any legal acts. The persons and/or companies associated with the Enterprise 

performed, from time to time, some lawful acts while working for entities connected with the 

Enterprise, and as a result, this Enterprise existed separate and apart from the pattern of corrupt 

activity described in this Indictment. 
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THE PLAN OF THE ENTERPRISE AND ITS HIERARCHY 

 

 The plan of the Enterprise and its function was to further the interests and profits of 

FirstEnergy Corp. and to corrupt and enrich Samuel C. Randazzo, first as general counsel for 

Industrial Energy Users of Ohio and later, as Chairman of the Public Utilities of Ohio. Jones and 

Dowling worked as key decisionmakers for FirstEnergy and Randazzo, SFA-Ohio, and Industrial 

Energy Users Administration, LLC. worked to achieve the plan of the Enterprise. Together, Jones, 

Dowling, Randazzo and his shell companies worked in concert to steal the power of government and 

bend it to the will of FirstEnergy.  

 

 One of the primary tools used to further the schemes of the enterprise was a spurious 2015 

amended “consulting agreement” between FirstEnergy Service Co., a wholly owned subsidiary of 

FirstEnergy Corp, and Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio, Inc., a Randazzo owned for profit 

corporation with no other employees. Here’s one example of how it worked: Randazzo had 

FirstEnergy send money that was supposed to go to IEU-Ohio—the bona fide trade group—through 

his shell companies first. Before he sent the money from his shell companies to the trade group, he 

skimmed money off the top and never told them. Since he was the general counsel for IEU-Ohio and 

had sole control of the trade group’s bank accounts, he was able to hide his theft. 

 

 Randazzo negotiated the 2015 amended “consulting agreement” with Michael Dowling on 

behalf of FirstEnergy. The 2015 agreement, which does not appear to have ever been signed by 

anyone, purported to describe FirstEnergy Service Corp. making payments totaling $8,483,332 to 

SFA-Ohio between 2016 and 2024 in exchange for “consulting services.”  

 

 The 2015 amended “consulting agreement” also contained a term requiring FirstEnergy 

Service Corporation Executives and SFA-Ohio (Randazzo) to lobby the President of the Ohio Senate 

and the Speaker of the Ohio House of Representatives. 

 

  Instead of consulting services, however, the amended “consulting agreement” was a 

subterfuge for Randazzo and FirstEnergy Corp to conceal a cash “side deal” between Randazzo’s 

client, the Industrial Energy Users of Ohio, and FirstEnergy companies in a PUCO Electric Security 

Plan Case, “In the Matter of the Application of Ohio Edison Company, The Cleveland Electric 

Illuminating Company, and The Toledo Edison Company for Authority to Provide for a Standard 

Service Offer Pursuant to R.C. 4928.143 in the Form of an Electric Security Plan,” PUCO Case No. 

14-1297-EL-SSO (or “ESP-IV”). IEU-Ohio intervened in the ESP-IV to object to FirstEnergy’s rate 

proposals on behalf its members. By settling with IEU-Ohio, FirstEnergy removed a significant 

roadblock to achieving its goals of beneficial pricing in ESP-IV. Although FirstEnergy did file a 

stipulated agreement with the PUCO in ESP-IV describing a settlement between IEU-Ohio and 

FirstEnergy for favorable rate terms as part of a “pilot project,” the stipulation made no mention of the 

cash payments for IEU-Ohio that Randazzo negotiated with FirstEnergy. Although Randazzo told his 

IEU-Ohio client that they would receive funds from ESP-IV, he never disclosed any written cash 

“side deal” and never disclosed to IEU-Ohio that he had arranged to funnel the settlement payments 

through his own shell company first. Randazzo likewise did not disclose the 2015 agreement to the 

members of his own law firm, McNees, Wallace and Nurick, LLC whose membership agreement 

barred Randazzo from outside employment. Randazzo’s “consulting agreement” with FirstEnergy 

also would not have been permitted under McNees, Wallace and Nurick’s conflict check because the 
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“consulting agreement” between Randazzo and FirstEnergy was a conflict of interest with the firm’s 

representation of IEU-Ohio. 

 

 The spurious 2015 “consulting agreement” came on the heels of a January 8, 2013 agreement 

between FirstEnergy Service Corp. and SFA-Ohio for “consulting services.” The 2015 “consulting 

agreement” purported to “amend” the 2013 agreement, which had provided for SFA-Ohio to receive 

$2,100,000 between 2013 and 2017. Randazzo had also entered into a spurious January 18, 2010 

“Invoice Agreement” between FirstEnergy Corp. and IEU Administration Company, LLC and  

“Sustainability Funding Alliance, Inc.”—a company which did not yet exist because Randazzo did 

not register the company until two months later, on March 15, 2010. That 2010 “invoice agreement” 

provided for FirstEnergy Corp. to pay Randazzo’s two entities a combined total of $1,500,000.00. As 

part of that agreement, Randazzo also signed an “Irrevocable Assignment of Claims” on behalf of his 

client, the Industrial Energy Users of Ohio, to SFA-Ohio and IEU-Ohio Administration Company, 

LLC. That document, which Randazzo signed on behalf of all three entities, is depicted below:  
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In the above document, Randazzo signed in three different capacities, despite the clear existence of a 

conflict of interest. As lawyer for IEU-Ohio, Randazzo gave away his client’s rights to his own shell 

companies. At no time did the trade group or its members ever know about or consent to the 

assignment of their rights.  Randazzo never disclosed to his client, the members of IEU-Ohio, the 

existence of either the 2013 agreements that he made with FirstEnergy Service Company or the 2010 

Invoice Agreement with FirstEnergy Corp. / Assignment of Claims, nor did he ever get his client’s 

consent to enter into those agreements or “assign” their right to claims against FirstEnergy. 

 

Skimming and Stealing 

 

 The secret “consulting agreements” that Randazzo entered into with FirstEnergy allowed him 

to skim for himself a large portion of the payments FirstEnergy made to his two shell companies, 

SFA-Ohio and IEU-Ohio Administration Company, LLC. Between 2016 and 2019, FirstEnergy paid 

Randazzo’s $13,152,639.94 to Randazzo’s two shell companies. Of that total, Randazzo gave 

$7,756.903.84 to his IEU-Client and kept $5,395,736.10 for himself. By using his spurious 

“consulting agreements” with FirstEnergy as the vehicle to disguise and funnel the settlement 

proceeds from FirstEnergy to his IEU-Ohio client, Randazzo bypassed his law firm’s Interest on 

Lawyer Trust Account (“IOLTA”) that the Ohio Rules of Professional Conduct require lawyers to 

maintain for handling client funds. Instead, Randazzo intermingled FirstEnergy settlement funds 

meant for his IEU-Ohio client with his own personal funds, keeping a substantial portion of the 

money for himself. 

 

 Randazzo also abused his position of trust as General Counsel for IEU-Ohio in other ways. On 

January 11, 2016, Randazzo stole $1,205,405.69 from a 2015 “side deal” settlement with American 

Electric Power for its Purchase Power Agreement. In that “side deal,” Randazzo negotiated a 

$9,873,900.79 settlement for his IEU-Ohio clients. Randazzo stole the money by enrolling his shell 

company, SFA-Ohio, as an “anonymous member” of IEU-Ohio and took twelve percent of the cash 

for himself. He transferred it to an IEU-Ohio bank account that he referred to as a “Deferred Comp” 

or “Retirement Account.” Randazzo then transferred $1 million of the AEP settlement money to his 

personal financial adviser to invest, saying that the money represented personal retirement funds for 

himself and his wife. Between January 11, 2016 and June 1, 2018, Randazzo embezzled additional 

IEU-Ohio settlement funds using the “anonymous member scheme,” also taking portions of the ESP-

IV side deal cash for himself. 

 

Randazzo Maneuvers for FirstEnergy Cash and to become PUCO Chairman 

 

 Later, when an opening to serve as a Commissioner on the PUCO became available in late 

2018, Randazzo enlisted the help of FirstEnergy executives and lobbyists to help him obtain the 

position.  On December 18, 2018, FirstEnergy President and CEO Chuck Jones and Senior Vice 

President of External Affairs Michael Dowling met with the Governor-elect and the Lt. Governor-

elect and paid FirstEnergy lobbyist Josh Rubin during a private dinner at the Athletic Club of 

Columbus. During the dinner, Randazzo’s name was discussed as a candidate for PUCO Chairman. 

Later that evening, Jones and Dowling went to Randazzo’s Columbus home for a visit. Afterwards, 

Randazzo texted Jones and Dowling and solicited a $4,333,333.00 payment, which represented the 

amount remaining on Randazzo’s amended “consulting agreement” if the agreement had remained in 
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effect through 2024. At the meeting and in subsequent text messages, Jones and Dowling agreed to 

pay Randazzo the cash. Dowling later held a meeting to discuss the payment with FirstEnergy 

lawyers. During the meeting, FirstEnergy lawyers told Dowling that the company should not make the 

payment because they believed that there was no legal obligation for the company to do so. 

Nevertheless, FirstEnergy paid Randazzo $4,333,333.00 on January 2, 2019, without ever having 

received an invoice for the payment and without any work or consulting services being performed. 

 

 On January 17, 2019, Randazzo submitted his cover letter and resume to the PUCO 

Nominating Council—the government agency responsible for recommending nominees for the 

Governor to appoint as commissioners to the PUCO. In those documents, Randazzo made no mention 

of his ownership of SFA-Ohio, IEU-Administration Company, LLC, or the millions of dollars that 

FirstEnergy had paid him. Before receiving the nomination to become Chair of the PUCO. Randazzo 

did, however, tell the Governor-elect through his incoming Chief of Staff that he had received $4.3 

million from FirstEnergy, which he claimed was final payment of a “consulting agreement.” 

Randazzo did not tell the Governor-elect or his incoming Chief of Staff about any of the other money 

FirstEnergy had paid him, or that he had used the “consulting agreement” to disguise the source of 

“side deal” cash that FirstEnergy paid in settlement to his IEU-Ohio client. During his January 2019 

conversation with the Governor-elect and his incoming Chief of Staff, Randazzo also denied working 

as a lobbyist for FirstEnergy. Randazzo did not tell the Governor-elect and his incoming Chief of 

Staff that one of the requirements of his “consulting agreement” with FirstEnergy was that he perform 

lobbying services.  

 

 In his Ohio Ethics Commission OEC-2019 Financial Disclosure Form, Randazzo omitted any 

disclosure that he had made income from FirstEnergy in 2019—or even that he had made income 

from SFA-Ohio, which Randazzo used to receive the FirstEnergy cash.  Indeed, in each previous year 

back to 2013, Randazzo omitted any mention in his OEC financial disclosure forms that he had made 

income from FirstEnergy. In his OEC-2016 form, Randazzo also failed to disclose that he had loaned 

$10,000 in 2016 to Michael Dawson, who was also Laurel Dawson’s husband and a paid FirstEnergy 

lobbyist. 

 

As Chairman, Randazzo bends the PUCO around FirstEnergy’s Will 

 

 The Governor nominated Randazzo to become PUCO Chair on February 4, 2019, and 

Randazzo became PUCO Chairman on April 11, 2019. During the following months, Randazzo used 

his position as PUCO Chair to advance FirstEnergy’s regulatory and legislative priorities. Randazzo 

lobbied members of the General Assembly in favor of key provisions of what became HB 6, including 

drafting portions of the bill himself. FirstEnergy was scheduled to have a full rate case in 2024. 

Randazzo, however, issued a PUCO decision on November 21, 2019 eliminating FirstEnergy’s 

requirement to file a new rate case in 2024. That decision gave FirstEnergy a financial windfall 

because at the time, FirstEnergy had been over-earning up to that point, and Jones and Dowling were 

concerned about a substantial rate decrease in 2024. Randazzo also gave FirstEnergy executives 

Chuck Jones and Michael Dowling advance notice of his decision on the 2024 rate case issue, in 

violation of PUCO rules against ex parte communication with the parties to a PUCO case. (OAC 

4901-1-09). 
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Additional Plans of the Enterprise 

 

Within the scope of the Enterprise and to further its affairs, Jones and Dowling stole $4,333,333.00 of 

FirstEnergy’s money when they spent it for an illegal purpose. FirstEnergy’s Corp’s 2018 Code of 

Business Conduct states that “[c]ompany assets and funds may be used only for legitimate business 

purposes and may never be used for illegal purposes.” On July 22, 2021, FirstEnergy Corp. entered 

into a Deferred Prosecution Agreement with the United States of America in S.D. Ohio Case No. 

1:21-cr-86. In that agreement, FirstEnergy Corp. admitted that the $4,333,333.00 payment it made on 

January 2, 2019 to Randazzo was part of a conspiracy “to defraud the public of its right to the honest 

services of a public official through bribery or kickbacks.” In the statement of facts that accompanied 

the deferred prosecution agreement, FirstEnergy agreed that “After his appointment as PUCO 

Chairman, [Randazzo] performed official action, including acts related to House Bill 6 and the 

elimination of FirstEnergy Corp.’s requirement to file a new base rate case in 2024, furthering 

FirstEnergy Corp.’s specific legislative and regulatory interests at the direction of and in coordination 

with certain FirstEnergy Corp. executives, as FirstEnergy Corp. requested and as opportunities arose.” 

 

Within the scope of this Enterprise and to further its affairs, Jones, Dowling, Randazzo, and SFA-

Ohio (Randazzo’s shell company) caused FirstEnergy Service Co. to wire $4,333,333.00 to SFA-Ohio 

on January 2, 2019. 

 

Within the scope of this Enterprise and to further is affairs, Randazzo filed OEC Financial Disclosure 

Forms OEC 2017, OEC 2018, and OEC 2019 in which Randazzo omitted disclosing to the Ohio 

Ethics Commission that he had received income from FirstEnergy, and omitted in OEC 2019 that he 

had received income from SFA-Ohio. Randazzo also submitted letters to Ohio Ethics Commission 

Executive Director Paul Nick on December 8, 2020 and May 10, 2021, to supplement his prior 

financial disclosures. Neither of those letters, however, contained any mention that Randazzo had 

received income from FirstEnergy. Randazzo also claimed in his December 8, 2020 letter that his 

OEC-2016 Financial Disclosure Form had been accurate and complete as submitted, although that 

form had omitted the fact that Randazzo had loaned Michael Dawson $10,000 in 2016. 

 

Within the scope of this Enterprise and to further its affairs, Randazzo appeared before and gave 

testimony to the Ohio House of Representatives Select Committee on Energy Policy and Oversight on 

September 16, 2020. The hearing was recorded by the Ohio Statehouse Media Center and broadcast 

by the Ohio Broadcast Education Media Commission, an agency of the state performing essential 

governmental functions of the State of Ohio. During Randazzo’s testimony, State Representative 

Casey Weinstein asked Randazzo at timecode 27:37: “I think it’s important for the public to know, 

Mr. Chairman, have you or the companies you own or control ever had contracts or done business 

with FirstEnergy or FirstEnergy Solutions?” In response, Randazzo stated:  

 

I will tell you however, that I have never represented as a lawyer or as a lobbyist 

any electric utility regulated by the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio or the 

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission and the same is true for any affiliate of a 

public utility, regulated by the public utilities, electric public utility regulated by 

the public utilities commission and the federal energy regulatory commission of 

Ohio.  
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In fact, however, FirstEnergy Corp. and/or its subsidiaries and affiliates had paid Randazzo to lobby 

Ohio’s legislative and executive branch officials for various policies and legislation it favored and 

which affected FirstEnergy Corp.’s profitability, including but not limited to: the cost of the 

Distribution Modernization Rider, the language, operation and passage of House Bill 6, and the 

elimination of the requirement that FirstEnergy Corp. file a PUCO rate case in 2024. 

 

Within the scope of this Enterprise and to further its affairs, Randazzo set up Charles Schwab 

investment account ####-6749 (“the Schwab account”) in the name of the bona fide non-profit trade 

group he represented, Industrial Energy Users of Ohio (or “IEU-Ohio”). At the time he set up the 

Schwab account, Randazzo told his personal financial advisor that the Schwab account was intended 

to be used as a “deferred comp” or “retirement” account for himself and his wife, Carol Farmer. 

Randazzo had funded the Schwab account with proceeds that he stole on January 11, 2016 from IEU-

Ohio’s 2015 Purchase Power Agreement (or “PPA”) Settlement with American Electric Power, Inc. 

However, on March 3, 2019, after being nominated to become PUCO Chairman, Randazzzo directed 

that $1,104,598.35 be sent from the Schwab account to Chase Account ######1600, an account 

belonging to IEU-Ohio. Randazzo then used the $1,104,598.35 he wired to the Chase account to make 

the final payments he promised to IEU-Ohio members from the undisclosed 2015 cash “side deal” 

settlement with FirstEnergy Corp. in its Electric Security Plan IV (or “ESP IV”) case. Despite using 

the previously stolen funds to make the final payments to IEU-Ohio members from the undisclosed 

ESP-IV cash “side deal,” Randazzo never reimbursed IEU-Ohio or its members for the $1,205,497.69  

he stole from AEP PPA settlement on January 11, 2016. In essence, Randazzo robbed Peter (or the 

AEP PPA Settlement) to pay Paul (the ESP-IV Settlement), leaving the bona fide IEU-Ohio trade 

group with over a million-dollar loss. 

 

Within the scope of the Enterprise and to further its affairs, between December 22, 2018 and 

December 31, 2018, Randazzo and IEU Ohio Administration Company LLC paid two employees of 

Randazzo’s law firm, Individual 1 and Individual 2, $20,000 and $30,000 respectively. Randazzo 

made the payments to Individuals 1 and 2 using an account belonging to IEU-Ohio Administration, 

LLC, a corporation wholly owned by Randazzo and which was separate and distinct from the non-

profit trade group that he represented, Industrial Energy Users of Ohio (or “IEU-Ohio”). Randazzo 

referred to the payments as “bonuses,” but had required the Individuals to submit Invoices to IEU-

Ohio for the payments. Randazzo obtained the funds used to pay the bonuses from money he stole 

from IEU by means of a fraudulent 2010 “Invoice” agreement with FirstEnergy. That agreement, 

which Randazzo never disclosed to IEU-Ohio members, purported to contain an “Irrevocable 

Assignment of Claims” in which Randazzo, on behalf of IEU-Ohio, assigned all of his client’s rights 

to claims against FirstEnergy, to his two shell companies, SFA Ohio and IEU-Ohio Administration. 

The 2010 “Invoice Agreement” committed FirstEnergy to pay six annual payments of $1,000,000 to 

SFA Ohio and six annual payments of $500,000 to IEU-Ohio Administration, LLC. Randazzo never 

disclosed either the “Invoice” agreement or the “Irrevocable Assignment of Claims” to his IEU-Ohio 

client. 

 

Within the scope of the Enterprise and to further its affairs, Between May 31, 2017 and January 22, 

2021, FirstEnergy Senior Vice President of External Affairs Michael Dowling failed to include 

Samuel C. Randazzo as a paid lobbyist of FirstEnergy Corp. when the company submitted its AER 

Legislative notifications to the Joint Legislative Ethics Committee, despite the fact that Randazzo was 

working as a paid lobbyist on behalf of FirstEnergy for that time period and actively lobbying 
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legislative officials on FirstEnergy’s behalf. 

 

Within the scope of the Enterprise and to further its affairs, Between May 31, 2017 and January 22, 

2021, FirstEnergy Senior Vice President of External Affairs Michael Dowling failed to include 

Samuel C. Randazzo as a paid lobbyist of FirstEnergy Corp. when the company submitted its AER 

Employer Executive notifications to the Joint Legislative Ethics Committee, despite the fact that 

Randazzo was working as a paid lobbyist on behalf of FirstEnergy for that time period and actively 

lobbying executive officials on FirstEnergy’s behalf. 

 

COMMON PURPOSE OF THE ENTERPRISE 

 

 This Enterprise functioned as an ongoing organization with commonality of purpose or a 

guiding mechanism to direct the organization. From at least November 30, 2010 through January 22, 

2021, the common purpose of the Enterprise regarding its ongoing illegal conduct was to execute a 

largescale covert scheme to corrupt the Chairman of the Ohio Public Utilities Commission (“PUCO”), 

steal millions of dollars of cash from a large publicly traded electric utility, forge a spurious contract 

to conceal a cash “side deal” in a PUCO ratemaking case, steal millions of dollars from a non-profit 

trade group representing large industrial energy users, and falsify government records involving the 

financial disclosures of public officials and the identities of paid lobbyists. 

 

 As stated above, each Person Associated with the Enterprise performed separate acts on behalf 

of and in furtherance of the Enterprise. The persons associated with this Enterprise were members of 

other entities so they needed to act in a structured and in an organized manner to enable the overall 

organization to successfully complete these schemes. Likewise, this occurred with the knowledge 

and/or support of other Persons Associated with the Enterprise in order that this Enterprise, as an 

association in fact, could continue and thrive because of the activities of each of the persons of the 

Enterprise. 

 

 This Enterprise functioned as a continuing unit with an ascertainable structure while it was 

engaging in the diverse forms of illegal activities. In doing so from the time stated herein, the Persons 

Associated with the Enterprise participated in and/or managed the affairs of the Enterprise as 

previously stated. As such, these persons provided continuity and structure to the Enterprise in order 

to accomplish its illegal purposes—the pattern of corrupt activity as set forth in this count. This 

Enterprise and the Persons Associated with the Enterprise were joined in purpose over a period of 

time, with various roles that were different, and with methods that changed in order to accomplish the 

main purpose of the Enterprise. 

 

 The structure of the organization, as an Enterprise in fact: Jones and Dowling actively worked 

to spend FirstEnergy money to improperly influence Randazzo to exercise the authority of the office 

of PUCO Chairman to advance FirstEnergy’s regulatory and policy agendas. Dowling actively 

worked to corrupt Randazzo when Randazzo worked as General Counsel for Industrial Energy Users 

of Ohio and to craft a fraudulent, spurious agreement to conceal a cash “side deal” in a PUCO 

ratemaking case. Randazzo used the scheme to enrich himself and defraud his IEU Ohio client. 

 

 This Enterprise is comprised of the Persons Affiliated with the Enterprise, all of whom acted 

with the purpose described in this Indictment, and all of whom conducted their activities over a period 
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of time for a common purpose. This Enterprise, as an informal association comprised of the Persons 

Associated with the Enterprise, functioned as a continuing unit, separate from the pattern of activity in 

which it engaged because one or more persons associated with this Enterprise performed legal acts as 

described herein. The non-exclusive list of lawful activities described herein occurred while this 

Enterprise functioned as a continuing unit and with an organization structure which engaged in 

diverse forms of illegal activities as stated in this Indictment. 

 

 While the persons associated with the Enterprise may have performed, from time to time, 

some lawful acts as described above, while working for entities connected with the Enterprise, these 

Persons also performed illegal acts as part of and in furtherance of this Enterprise, as stated in this 

Indictment. Based on the foregoing, this Enterprise existed separate and apart from the pattern of 

corrupt activity in which it was engaged, and this Enterprise functioned as a continuing unit by 

engaging in the diverse forms of illegal activities, as stated in this Indictment. 

 

 In the alternative, this Enterprise is an “illicit enterprise” under R. C. Section 2932.32 which is 

one that is unlawful or engaged in prohibited activities. The schemes described in this indictment 

constitute prohibited activities. This illicit enterprise existed separate and apart from the pattern of 

corrupt activity as described in this Indictment even if it did not do legal transactions during this time 

period. 

 

 As a result of either one of these two situations, this Enterprise functioned as an organizational 

structure and as a continuing unit, even though it was engaging in the diverse forms of illegal 

activities as described in this Indictment. In either situation, the persons associated with the Enterprise 

participated in and/or managed the affairs of the Enterprise and as such provided continuity and 

structure to the Enterprise in order to accomplish its illegal purpose—the pattern of corrupt activity 

explained in this count. This enterprise and the persons associated within it were joined in purpose 

over a period of time, although their various roles were different in order to accomplish the main 

purpose of the Enterprise. All these schemes were necessary to make the overall organization 

successful as an Enterprise engaged in corrupt activity. These activities occurred with the knowledge 

and or support of and or were aided or abetted by each of the persons associated with the Enterprise. 

 

AFFAIRS OF THE ENTERPRISE 

 

 The affairs of the Enterprise involve the jurisdiction of the State of Ohio with events taking 

place in the counties of Summit and Franklin, and the State of Florida, including but not limited to:  

 

THE PATTERN OF CORRUPT ACTIVITY FROM JANUARY 18, 2010 THROUGH 

JANUARY 22, 2021 

 

 A “Pattern of corrupt activity” means two or more incidents of corrupt activity, whether or not 

there has been a prior conviction, that are related to the affairs of the same enterprise, are not isolated, 

and are not so closely related to each other and connected in time and place that they constitute a 

single event. On two or more occasions, Person Associated with the Enterprise directly or indirectly 

committed one or more of the following: 

 

FORGERY: 2913.31(A)(2) No person, with purpose to defraud, or knowing that the person is 
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facilitating a fraud, shall forge any writing so that it purports to be genuine when it actually is 

spurious, or to be the act of another who did not authorize that act, or to have been executed at a time 

or place or with terms different from what in fact was the case, or to be a copy of an original when no 

such original existed; 

 

BRIBERY: 2921.02(A) No person, with purpose to corrupt a public servant or party official, or 

improperly to influence a public servant or party official with respect to the discharge of the public 

servant’s or party official’s duty, whether before or after the public servant or party official is elected, 

appointed, qualified, employed, summoned, or sworn, shall promise, offer, or give any valuable thing 

or valuable benefit. 

 

BRIBERY: 2921.02(B) No person, before or after the person was employed as a public, servant 

knowingly solicit or accept for self or another person any valuable thing or valuable benefit to corrupt 

or improperly influence the person or another public servant with respect to the discharge of the 

person’s or the other public servant’s duty. 

 

THEFT: 2913.02(A)(1) No person, with purpose to deprive the owner of property or services, shall 

knowingly obtain or exert control over either the property or services without the consent of the 

owner or person authorized to give consent and the property or services stolen is valued at one million 

five hundred thousand dollars or more. 

 

THEFT: 2913.02(A)(2) No person, with purpose to deprive the owner of property or services, shall 

knowingly obtain or exert control over either the property or services beyond the scope of the express 

or implied consent of the owner or person authorized to give consent and the property or services 

stolen is valued at one million five hundred thousand dollars or more. 

 

THEFT: 2913.02(A)(1) No person, with purpose to deprive the owner of property or services, shall 

knowingly obtain or exert control over either the property or services without the consent of the 

owner or person authorized to give consent and the property or services stolen is valued at seven 

hundred fifty thousand dollars or more. 

 

THEFT: 2913.02(A)(2) No person, with purpose to deprive the owner of property or services, shall 

knowingly obtain or exert control over either the property or services beyond the scope of the express 

or implied consent of the owner or person authorized to give consent and the property or services 

stolen is valued at seven hundred fifty thousand dollars or more. 

 

THEFT: 2913.02(A)(2) No person, with purpose to deprive the owner of property or services, shall 

knowingly obtain or exert control over either the property or services beyond the scope of the express 

or implied consent of the owner or person authorized to give consent and the property or services 

stolen is valued at seven thousand five hundred dollars or more. 

 

TELECOMMUNICATIONS FRAUD: 2913.05 No person, having devised a scheme to defraud, shall 

knowingly disseminate, transmit, or cause to be disseminated or transmitted by  means of a wire, 

radio, satellite, telecommunication, telecommunications device, or telecommunications service any 

writing, data, sign, signal, picture, sound, or image with purpose to execute or otherwise further the 

scheme to defraud and the value of the benefit obtained by the offender or of the detriment to the 
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victim of the fraud is one million or more. 

 

TAMPERING WITH RECORDS: 2913.42(A), 2913.42(B)(4) No person, knowing the person has no 

privilege to do so, and with purpose to defraud or knowing that the person is facilitating a fraud, shall 

do any of the following:(l) Falsify, destroy, remove, conceal, alter, deface, or mutilate any writing, 

computer software, data, or record and the writing, data, computer software, or record was kept by or 

belonged to a local, state, or federal governmental entity. 

 

MONEY LAUNDERING: 1315.55(A)(1) No person shall conduct or attempt to conduct a transaction 

knowing that the property involved in the transaction is the proceeds of some form of unlawful 

activity with the purpose of committing or furthering the commission of corrupt activity. 

 

MONEY LAUNDERING: 1315.55(A)(4) No person shall conduct or structure or attempt to conduct 

or structure a transaction that involves the proceeds of corrupt activity that is of a value greater than 

ten thousand dollars if the person knows or has reasonable cause to know that the transaction involves 

the proceeds of corrupt activity. 

 

INCIDENTS OF CORRUPT ACTIVITY—PREDICATE ACTS AS DEFINED IN R.C. 

SECTION 2923.31. 

 

1. §2913.31(A)(2), 2913.31(C)(1)(b)(ii) Forgery F3 - Forgery, Genuine/ Spurious; Value; 

$100,000 or More in a continuing course of conduct on or about 1/18/2010 through 1/30/2010 

Defendants Samuel Randazzo IEU-Ohio Administration Co. LLC Sustainability Funding 

Alliance of Ohio, Inc. with purpose to defraud, or knowing that he is facilitating a fraud on 

Industrial Energy Users of Ohio, did forge any writing, to wit: Invoice Agreement and 

Irrevocable Assignment of Claims, so that it purports to be genuine when it actually is 

spurious, or to be the act of another who did not authorize that act, or to have been executed at 

a time or place or with terms different from what in fact was the case, or to be a copy of an 

original when no such original existed the value of the property or services or the loss to the 

victim is $100,000 or more. 

 

2. §2913.31(A)(2), 2913.31(C)(1)(b)(ii) Forgery F3 - Forgery, Genuine/ Spurious; Value; 

$100,000 or More in a continuing course of conduct on or between May 1, 2015 and May 31, 

2015, Defendants Samuel Randazzo IEU-Ohio Administration Co. LLC,  Sustainability 

Funding Alliance of Ohio, Inc., and Michael Dowling with purpose to defraud, or knowing 

that he is facilitating a fraud on Industrial Energy Users of Ohio, did forge any writing, to wit: 

Invoice Agreement and Irrevocable Assignment of Claims, so that it purports to be genuine 

when it actually is spurious, or to be the act of another who did not authorize that act, or to 

have been executed at a time or place or with terms different from what in fact was the case, or 

to be a copy of an original when no such original existed the value of the property or services 

or the loss to the victim is $100,000 or more. 

 

3. §2921.02(A), 2921.02(E) Bribery F3 Bribery-Promise Valuable Benefit in a continuing course 

of conduct on or about 12/18/2018 thru 01/02/2019 Defendants Michael J. Dowling Charles E. 

Jones did promise, offer, or give any valuable thing or valuable benefit, to wit: cash, to wit: 

$4,333,333.00, with purpose to corrupt a public servant or party official, to wit: Samuel C. 

https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1058/3985?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1058/3986?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1058/3987?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1058/3987?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1058/3985?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1058/3986?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1058/3987?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1000/3872?instrumentId=185
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1000/3872?instrumentId=185
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1000/3873?instrumentId=185
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Randazzo, Chairman of the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio, or improperly to influence 

him with respect to the discharge of his duty, whether before or after he was elected, 

appointed, qualified, employed, summoned, or sworn. 

 

4. §2921.02(B), 2921.02(E) Bribery F3 Bribery-Solicit in a continuing course of conduct on or 

about 12/18/2018 thru 01/02/2019 Defendant Samuel Randazzo did knowingly solicit or 

accept for himself or another person any valuable thing or valuable benefit, to wit: cash, to 

wit: $4,333,333.00, to corrupt or improperly influence him or another public servant or party 

official with respect to the discharge of his or the other public servant’s or party official’s 

duty, either before or after he was elected, appointed, qualified, employed, summoned, or 

sworn as a public servant or party official.  

 

5. §2913.02(A)(1), 2913.02(B)(2) Aggravated Theft of One Million Five Hundred Thousand 

Dollars or More F1 - Theft, Without Consent; Value Greater Than $1,500,000 in a continuing 

course of conduct on or about 12/18/2018 thru 01/02/2019 Defendants Michael J. Dowling 

Charles E. Jones did with purpose to deprive the owner, FirstEnergy Corp., a publicly traded 

corporation, and/or the shareholders of FirstEnergy Corp., a publicly traded corporation, of 

property or services, to wit: cash, to wit: $4,333,333.00, knowingly obtain or exert control 

over either the property or services without the consent of the owner or person authorized to 

give consent the property or services stolen is valued at one million five hundred thousand 

dollars or more. 

 

6. §2913.02(A)(2), 2913.02(B)(2) Aggravated Theft of One Million Five Hundred Thousand 

Dollars or More F1 - Theft, Without Consent; Value Greater Than $1,500,000 in a continuing 

course of conduct on or about 12/18/2018 thru 01/02/2019 Defendants Michael J. Dowling 

Charles E. Jones did with purpose to deprive the owner, FirstEnergy Corp., a publicly traded 

corporation, and/or the shareholders of FirstEnergy Corp., a publicly traded corporation, of 

property or services, to wit: cash, to wit: $4,333,333.00, knowingly obtain or exert control 

over either the property or services beyond the scope of the express or implied consent of the 

owner or person authorized to give consent. 

 

7. §2913.05(A), 2913.05(B); 2913.05(C) Telecommunications Fraud F1 - Transmit Data With 

Purpose to Execute Scheme to Defraud, Course of Conduct, $1,000,000+ in a continuing 

course of conduct on or about 01/02/2019 Defendants Samuel Randazzo, Michael J. Dowling, 

Charles E. Jones, and Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio, Inc. having devised a scheme 

to defraud, did knowingly disseminate, transmit, or cause to be disseminated or transmitted by 

means of a wire, radio, satellite, telecommunication, telecommunications device, or 

telecommunication service any writing, data, sign, signal, picture, sound, or image with 

purpose to execute or otherwise further the scheme to defraud and the violation occurred as 

part of a course of conduct involving other violations of division (A) of this section or 

violations of, attempts to violate, conspiracies to violate, or complicity in violations of section 

2913.02, 2913.04, 2913.11, 2913.21, 2913.31, 2913.42, 2913.43, or 2921.13 of the Revise 

Code and the value of the benefit obtained by the offender or of the detriment to the victim of 

the fraud is one million or more. 

 

8. §1315.55(A)(2), 1315.99(C) Money Laundering F3 - With intent to conceal or disguise in a 

https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1000/3873?instrumentId=185
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1000/3874?instrumentId=185
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1000/3875?instrumentId=185
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1000/3876?instrumentId=185
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1001/3877?instrumentId=185
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1001/3878?instrumentId=185
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1001/3878?instrumentId=185
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1001/3879?instrumentId=185
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1001/3880?instrumentId=185
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1001/3881?instrumentId=185
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1034/3943?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1034/3943?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1034/3944?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1034/3943?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1034/3943?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1034/3944?instrumentId=186
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continuing course of conduct on or about 12/18/2018 thru 01/02/2019 Defendants Samuel 

Randazzo, Michael J. Dowling, Charles E. Jones, and Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio, 

Inc. did conduct or attempt to conduct a transaction knowing that the property involved in the 

transaction was the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity with the intent to conceal or 

disguise the nature, location, source, ownership, or control of the property or the intent to 

avoid a transaction reporting requirement under section 1315.53 of the Revised Code or 

federal law. 

 

9. §1315.55(A)(4), 1315.99(C) Money Laundering F3 - A transaction with a value greater than 

$10,000 in a continuing course of conduct on or about 12/18/2018 thru 01/02/2019 Defendants 

Samuel Randazzo, Michael J. Dowling, Charles E. Jones, and Sustainability Funding Alliance 

of Ohio, Inc. did conduct or structure or attempt to conduct or structure a transaction that 

involved the proceeds of corrupt activity that was of a value greater than ten thousand dollars 

and the person knew or had reasonable cause to know that the transaction involved the 

proceeds of corrupt activity. 

 

10. §2913.42(A)(1), 2913.42(B)(4) Tampering with Records F3 - Tampering With Records-

Purpose to Defraud, Falsify, Destroy, Remove, Government Record in a continuing course of 

conduct on or about 02/19/2018 Defendant Samuel Randazzo did, knowing he had no 

privilege to do so, and with purpose to defraud or knowing he was facilitating a fraud on the 

Ohio Ethics Commission  falsify, destroy, remove, conceal, alter, deface, or mutilate any 

writing, computer software, data, or record, to wit: Ohio Ethics Commission Financial 

Disclosure Form OEC-2017 and the writing, data, computer software, or record was kept by or 

belonged to a local, state, or federal governmental entity. 

 

11. §2913.42(A)(1), 2913.42(B)(4) Tampering with Records F3 - Tampering With Records-

Purpose to Defraud, Falsify, Destroy, Remove, Government Record in a continuing course of 

conduct on or about 04/15/2019 Defendant Samuel Randazzo did, knowing he had no 

privilege to do so, and with purpose to defraud or knowing he was facilitating a fraud on the 

Ohio Ethics Commission  falsify, destroy, remove, conceal, alter, deface, or mutilate any 

writing, computer software, data, or record, to wit: Ohio Ethics Commission Financial 

Disclosure Form OEC-2018 and the writing, data, computer software, or record was kept by or 

belonged to a local, state, or federal governmental entity.  

 

12. §2913.42(A)(1), 2913.42(B)(4) Tampering with Records F3 - Tampering With Records-

Purpose to Defraud, Falsify, Destroy, Remove, Government Record in a continuing course of 

conduct on or about 02/25/2020 Defendant Samuel Randazzo did, knowing he had no 

privilege to do so, and with purpose to defraud or knowing he was facilitating a fraud on the 

Ohio Ethics Commission  falsify, destroy, remove, conceal, alter, deface, or mutilate any 

writing, computer software, data, or record, to wit: Ohio Ethics Commission Financial 

Disclosure Form OEC-2019 and the writing, data, computer software, or record was kept by or 

belonged to a local, state, or federal governmental entity. 

 

13.  §2913.42(A)(1), 2913.42(B)(4) Tampering with Records F3 - Tampering With Records-

Purpose to Defraud, Falsify, Destroy, Remove, Government Record in a continuing course of 

conduct on or about 09/16/2020 Defendant Samuel Randazzo did, knowing he had no 

https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1039/3947?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1039/3948?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1039/3949?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1039/3949?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1039/3950?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1039/3950?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1040/3951?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1040/3952?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1040/3953?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1040/3953?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1040/3954?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1040/3954?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1041/3955?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1041/3956?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1041/3957?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1041/3957?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1041/3958?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1041/3958?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1042/3959?instrumentId=186
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privilege to do so, and with purpose to defraud or knowing he was facilitating a fraud on the 

Ohio House of Representatives, and/or the Ohio House of Representatives Select Committee 

on Energy Policy and Oversight, and/or the Ohio Broadcast Educational Media Commission 

 falsify, destroy, remove, conceal, alter, deface, or mutilate any writing, computer software, 

data, or record, to wit: video of September 16, 2020 testimony before the Ohio House of 

Representatives Select Committee on Energy Policy and Oversight. and the writing, data, 

computer software, or record was kept by or belonged to a local, state, or federal governmental 

entity.  

 

14. §2913.42(A)(1), 2913.42(B)(4) Tampering with Records F3 - Tampering With Records-

Purpose to Defraud, Falsify, Destroy, Remove, Government Record in a continuing course of 

conduct on or about 12/08/2020 Defendant Samuel Randazzo did, knowing he had no 

privilege to do so, and with purpose to defraud or knowing he was facilitating a fraud on the 

Ohio Ethics Commission  falsify, destroy, remove, conceal, alter, deface, or mutilate any 

writing, computer software, data, or record, to wit: December 8, 2020 letter to Ohio Ethics 

Commission Executive Director Paul Nick and the writing, data, computer software, or record 

was kept by or belonged to a local, state, or federal governmental entity. 

 

15. §2913.42(A)(1), 2913.42(B)(4) Tampering with Records F3 - Tampering With Records-

Purpose to Defraud, Falsify, Destroy, Remove, Government Record in a continuing course of 

conduct on or about 05/10/2021 

Defendant Samuel Randazzo did, knowing he had no privilege to do so, and with purpose to 

defraud or knowing he was facilitating a fraud on the Ohio Ethics Commission  falsify, 

destroy, remove, conceal, alter, deface, or mutilate any writing, computer software, data, or 

record, to wit: May 10, 2021 letter to Ohio Ethics Commission Executive Director Paul 

Nick and the writing, data, computer software, or record was kept by or belonged to a local, 

state, or federal governmental entity.  

 

16. §2913.02(A)(1), 2913.02(B)(2) Aggravated Theft F2 - Theft, Without Consent; Value 

Between $750,000-$1,500,000 in a continuing course of conduct on or about 01/11/2016 thru 

07/01/2018 Defendants Samuel Randazzo and Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio, Inc. 

did with purpose to deprive the owner, Industrial Energy Users of Ohio and its members, of 

property or services, to wit: $1,246,540.83, knowingly obtain or exert control over either the 

property or services without the consent of the owner or person authorized to give consent the 

property or services stolen is valued at seven hundred fifty thousand dollars or more.  

 

17. §2913.02(A)(2), 2913.02(B)(2) Aggravated Theft F2 - Theft, Beyond Scope of Consent; 

Value Between $750,000-$1,500,000 in a continuing course of conduct on or between 

01/11/2016 thru 07/01/2018 Defendants Samuel Randazzo and Sustainability Funding 

Alliance of Ohio, Inc. did with purpose to deprive the owner, Industrial Energy Users of Ohio 

and its members, of property or services, to wit: $1,246,540.83, knowingly obtain or exert 

control over either the property or services beyond the scope of the express or implied consent 

of the owner or person authorized to give consent the property or services stolen is valued at 

seven hundred fifty thousand dollars or more.  

 

18. §1315.55(A)(2), 1315.99(C) Money Laundering F3 - With intent to conceal or disguise in a 

https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1042/3960?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1042/3961?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1042/3961?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1042/3961?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1042/3962?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1042/3962?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1043/3963?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1043/3964?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1043/3965?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1043/3965?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1043/3966?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1043/3966?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1044/3967?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1044/3968?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1044/3969?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1044/3970?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1044/3970?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1045/3971?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1045/3972?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1046/3973?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1046/3973?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1046/3974?instrumentId=186
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continuing course of conduct on or about 01/11/2016 thru 07/01/2018 Defendants Samuel 

Randazzo and Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio, Inc. did conduct or attempt to conduct 

a transaction knowing that the property involved in the transaction was the proceeds of some 

form of unlawful activity with the intent to conceal or disguise the nature, location, source, 

ownership, or control of the property or the intent to avoid a transaction reporting requirement 

under section 1315.53 of the Revised Code or federal law.  

 

19. §1315.55(A)(4), 1315.99(C) Money Laundering F3 - A transaction with a value greater than 

$10,000 in a continuing course of conduct on or about 01/11/2016 thru 07/01/2018 Defendants 

Samuel Randazzo Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio, Inc. did conduct or structure or 

attempt to conduct or structure a transaction that involved the proceeds of corrupt activity that 

was of a value greater than ten thousand dollars and the person knew or had reasonable cause 

to know that the transaction involved the proceeds of corrupt activity.  

 

20. §2913.05(A), 2913.05(B); 2913.05(C) Telecommunications Fraud F1 - Transmit Data With 

Purpose to Execute Scheme to Defraud, $1,000,000+ in a continuing course of conduct on or 

about 03/06/2019 Defendant Samuel Randazzo having devised a scheme to defraud, did 

knowingly disseminate, transmit, or cause to be disseminated or transmitted by means of a 

wire, radio, satellite, telecommunication, telecommunications device, or telecommunication 

service any writing, data, sign, signal, picture, sound, or image with purpose to execute or 

otherwise further the scheme to defraud and the value of the benefit obtained by the offender 

or of the detriment to the victim of the fraud is one million or more.  

 

21. §1315.55(A)(2), 1315.99(C) Money Laundering F3 - With intent to conceal or disguise in a 

continuing course of conduct on or about 03/06/2019 Defendants Samuel Randazzo did 

conduct or attempt to conduct a transaction knowing that the property involved in the 

transaction was the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity with the intent to conceal or 

disguise the nature, location, source, ownership, or control of the property or the intent to 

avoid a transaction reporting requirement under section 1315.53 of the Revised Code or 

federal law.  

 

22. §1315.55(A)(4), 1315.99(C) Money Laundering F3 - A transaction with a value greater than 

$10,000 in a continuing course of conduct on or about 03/06/2019 Defendants Samuel 

Randazzo did conduct or structure or attempt to conduct or structure a transaction that 

involved the proceeds of corrupt activity that was of a value greater than ten thousand dollars 

and the person knew or had reasonable cause to know that the transaction involved the 

proceeds of corrupt activity.  

 

23. §2913.02(A)(2), 2913.02(B)(2) Grand Theft F4 - Theft, Beyond Scope of Consent; Value 

Between $7500-$150,000 in a continuing course of conduct on or about 12/22/2018 thru 

12/31/2018 Defendants Samuel Randazzo and IEU-Ohio Administration Co. LLC did with 

purpose to deprive the owner, Industrial Energy Users of Ohio, of property or services, to wit: 

$50,000, knowingly obtain or exert control over either the property or services beyond the 

scope of the express or implied consent of the owner or person authorized to give consent the 

property or services stolen is valued at seven thousand five hundred dollars or more.  

 

https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1052/3975?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1052/3976?instrumentId=186
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24. §2913.05(A), 2913.05(B); 2913.05(C) Telecommunications Fraud F1 - Transmit Data With 

Purpose to Execute Scheme to Defraud, $1,000,000+ in a continuing course of conduct on or 

about 05/05/2015 thru 06/06/2018 Defendants Samuel Randazzo, Michael J. Dowling, Charles 

E. Jones, IEU-Ohio Administration Co. LLC, and Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio, 

Inc., having devised a scheme to defraud, did knowingly disseminate, transmit, or cause to be 

disseminated or transmitted by means of a wire, radio, satellite, telecommunication, 

telecommunications device, or telecommunication service any writing, data, sign, signal, 

picture, sound, or image with purpose to execute or otherwise further the scheme to 

defraud and the value of the benefit obtained by the offender or of the detriment to the victim 

of the fraud is one million or more. 

 

25. §1315.55(A)(2), 1315.99(C) Money Laundering F3 - With intent to conceal or disguise in a 

continuing course of conduct on or about 05/05/2015 thru 06/06/2018 Defendants Samuel 

Randazzo, Michael J. Dowling, Charles E. Jones, IEU-Ohio Administration Co. LLC, and 

Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio, Inc. did conduct or attempt to conduct a transaction 

knowing that the property involved in the transaction was the proceeds of some form of 

unlawful activity with the intent to conceal or disguise the nature, location, source, ownership, 

or control of the property or the intent to avoid a transaction reporting requirement under 

section 1315.53 of the Revised Code or federal law. 

 

26. §1315.55(A)(4), 1315.99(C) Money Laundering F3 - A transaction with a value greater than 

$10,000 in a continuing course of conduct on or about 05/05/2015 thru 06/06/2018 Defendants 

Samuel Randazzo, Michael J. Dowling, Charles E. Jones, IEU-Ohio Administration Co. LLC, 

and Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio, Inc. did conduct or structure or attempt to 

conduct or structure a transaction that involved the proceeds of corrupt activity that was of a 

value greater than ten thousand dollars and the person knew or had reasonable cause to know 

that the transaction involved the proceeds of corrupt activity. 

 

27. §2913.42(A)(1), 2913.42(B)(4) Tampering with Records F3 - Tampering With Records-

Purpose to Defraud, Falsify, Destroy, Remove, Government Record in a continuing course of 

conduct on or about 05/31/2017 thru 01/22/2021 Defendant Michael J. Dowling did, knowing 

he had no privilege to do so, and with purpose to defraud or knowing he was facilitating a 

fraud on the Joint Legislative Ethics Committee  falsify, destroy, remove, conceal, alter, 

deface, or mutilate any writing, computer software, data, or record, to wit: Ohio Joint 

Legislative Ethics Committee AER Legislative Forms filed between 5/31/2017 through 

1/22/2021 and the writing, data, computer software, or record was kept by or belonged to a 

local, state, or federal governmental entity.  

 

28. §2913.42(A)(1), 2913.42(B)(4) Tampering with Records F3 - Tampering With Records-

Purpose to Defraud, Falsify, Destroy, Remove, Government Record in a continuing course of 

conduct on or about 05/31/2017 thru 01/22/2021 Defendants Michael J. Dowling did, knowing 

he had no privilege to do so, and with purpose to defraud or knowing he was facilitating a 

fraud on the Ohio Joint Legislative Ethics Committee  falsify, destroy, remove, conceal, alter, 

deface, or mutilate any writing, computer software, data, or record, to wit: AER Employer 

Executive notifications and the writing, data, computer software, or record was kept by or 

belonged to a local, state, or federal governmental entity. 

https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1056/3977?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1056/3978?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1056/3979?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1056/3980?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1056/3980?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1056/3980?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1057/3981?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1057/3982?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1057/3983?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1057/3984?instrumentId=186
https://matrixprosecutor-sps.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/matter/6001564/matter-instrument-charges/ShowKeywordEditorDialog/1057/3984?instrumentId=186


20 

 

 

Furthermore, the most serious offense in the pattern of corrupt activity that is the basis of the offense 

is a felony of the first degree, to wit: Theft in Violation of R.C. 2913.02(A)(2). 

SPECIFICATION ONE TO COUNT ONE - Specification for Forfeiture of Property, 

§2941.1417(A) 

The Grand Jurors further find and specify that within Summit and/or Franklin Counties Samuel C. 

Randazzo is the owner and/or possessor of 645 S. Grant Ave. Columbus, Ohio 43206 which was 

contraband and/or property derived from or through the commission or facilitation of the offense, 

and/or was an instrumentality the offender used or intended to use in the commission or facilitation of 

the offense and is subject to forfeiture pursuant to 2941.1417(A), 2981.02, and 2981.04 of the Revised 

Code. 

SPECIFICATION TWO TO COUNT ONE - Specification for Forfeiture of Property, 

§2941.1417(A) 

The Grand Jurors further find and specify that within Summit and/or Franklin Counties Samuel B. 

Randazzo is the owner and/or possessor of 1788 W. Third Ave., Columbus, Ohio 43212 which was 

contraband and/or property derived from or through the commission or facilitation of the offense, 

and/or was an instrumentality the offender used or intended to use in the commission or facilitation of 

the offense and is subject to forfeiture pursuant to 2941.1417(A), 2981.02, and 2981.04 of the Revised 

Code. 

 

  
   

     

Count Two  Bribery, §2921.02, F3 

Defendants Michael J. Dowling, Charles E. Jones 

Date of Offense In a continuing course of conduct on or about 12/18/2018 through 

1/2/2019 

The Jurors of the Grand Jury of the State of Ohio, upon their oaths, further find that within Summit 

and/or Franklin Counties, the Defendant(s) unlawfully did promise, offer, or give any valuable thing 

or valuable benefit, to wit: cash, to wit: $4,333,333.00, with purpose to corrupt a public servant or 

party official, to wit: Samuel C. Randazzo, Chairman of the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio, or 

improperly to influence him with respect to the discharge of his duty, whether before or after he was 

elected, appointed, qualified, employed, summoned, or sworn.  

 

Background 

 

Samuel C. Randazzo secretly took cash payments from FirstEnergy Service Corp. for years by 

using a “consulting agreement” to conceal an undisclosed cash “side deal” for his client, the non-

profit trade group Industrial Energy Users of Ohio (“IEU-Ohio”) and to conceal additional personal 

income for himself. Randazzo structured the cash payments to go to Sustainability Funding Alliance 

of Ohio (“SFA-Ohio”), a shell company that Randazzo owned and which had no employees other 

than Randazzo. FirstEnergy structured the payments to come from the legal budget of FirstEnergy 
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Service Corp., a wholly owned subsidiary of FirstEnergy Corp (“FirstEnergy”). Of the 

$13,152,640.00 that FirstEnergy acknowledged having paid Randazzo through SFA-Ohio, 

$11,858,378 of that total amount was recorded in company records as “Plant in Service and Operating 

Expenses of Franchised Public Utilities (FPUs) and Transmission Companies.” 

 

The secret cash “side deal” between FirstEnergy and IEU-Ohio was a 2015 monetary 

settlement that Randazzo negotiated and reached with FirstEnergy in a 2014 Electric Security Plan 

case before the PUCO, known as “ESP-IV.” The undisclosed cash “side deal” involved FirstEnergy 

making cash payments to IEU-Ohio in exchange for IEU-Ohio withdrawing its opposition to 

FirstEnergy’s Electric Security Plan. Apart from an unsigned 2015 “amended consulting agreement” 

between SFA Ohio and FirstEnergy, neither Randazzo nor FirstEnergy reduced the terms of the secret 

cash “side deal” to writing. Such “side deals” are extremely controversial and have been criticized as 

a “pay to play” system in which electric utilities give cash and favorable pricing to large and powerful 

energy users in exchange for trade groups representing the large energy users withdrawing opposition 

to the utilities’ pricing requests to the PUCO in those cases.  

 

Randazzo also agreed, in exchange for the cash he received from FirstEnergy, to lobby 

executive and legislative branch officials in Ohio for policy and legislative positions favored by 

FirstEnergy. 

Becoming PUCO Chairman 

 

On December 17, 2018, Randazzo sent an email to his associates at FirstEnergy Corp. and 

Boich Companies notifying them of a press release that the PUCO Nominating Council—on which 

Randazzo served as a member—was seeking applicants for a commissioner position. The next day, 

Michael Dowling, FirstEnergy Senior Vice President of External Affairs, sent images of handwritten 

notes to FirstEnergy CEO Chuck Jones. The notes reflected a conversation with Josh Rubin, a paid 

FirstEnergy lobbyist. The notes contained advice for how to lobby the Governor-elect in favor of 

FirstEnergy’s position on the next Chairman of the PUCO. The notes also cautioned against 

mentioning to the Governor-elect that Jones and Dowling would meet with Randazzo after the 

meeting with the Governor. The notes are depicted below:  
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The Payoff 

 

On December 18, 2018, after Rubin, Jones, and Dowling met with the Governor-elect and Lt. 

Governor-elect at the Athletic Club of Columbus. Afterwards, Jones and Dowling met with Randazzo 

at his condo in Columbus, Ohio. After the meeting, Randazzo texted Jones and Dowling the 

following:  

 
The following day, Randazzo sent another text message to Jones and Dowling:  
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In the text string, Jones referenced another PUCO candidate for whom Jones and Dowling lobbied to 

become the next PUCO Chairman, but who Jones and Dowling learned was disfavored by the 

incoming Governor’s administration. Instead, Jones and Dowling learned that Randazzo was the 

incoming administration’s preferred candidate.  

 

After the December 2018 meeting, Dowling held a meeting to discuss the payment with 

FirstEnergy lawyers. During the meeting, FirstEnergy lawyers told Dowling that the company should 

not make the payment because they believed that there was no legal obligation for the company to do 

so. Nevertheless, FirstEnergy paid Randazzo $4,333,333.00 on January 2, 2019, without ever having 

received an invoice for the payment. On January 2, 2019, Randazzo received a $4,333,333.00 wire 

from FirstEnergy Service Company. Randazzo claimed the payment as income on his 2019 federal 

and state personal income taxes.  
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Setting Up FirstEnergy’s Priorities for the New PUCO Chairman 

 

On January 14, 2019, Jones and Dowling had a text message conversation in which the two 

discussed strategies for passing proposed energy legislation that would benefit FirstEnergy, and 

discussed the need to extend FirstEnergy’s Electric Security Plan in order to avoid having to file a 

new rate case in 2024, which Jones referred to as “the Ohio hole.” If FirstEnergy were forced to file a 

new rate case before the PUCO, it would have publicly revealed that the company was “over earning” 

through high electricity rates, and the PUCO would likely have ordered it to lower the rates it charged 

customers for electricity. The following text exchange took place between Jones and Dowling on 

January 14, 2019:  

 

 
 

 On January 17, 2019, Randazzo submitted a cover letter and resume to the PUCO 

Nominating Council become the new Chairman of the PUCO. Although Randazzo extensively 

detailed his prior work history and business relationships in those documents, Randazzo omitted any 

mention of SFA Ohio, or the millions of dollars FirstEnergy had paid him through SFA Ohio. 

  

 On January 18, 2019, Jones and Dowling had a text conversation in which they discussed an 

alternate candidate the two men preferred, and how the incoming Governor’s administration would 

rely on Randazzo if he were confirmed as PUCO Chairman:  
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 Between January 21, 2019 and January 30, 2019, Dowling forwarded to Randazzo several 

confidential internal FirstEnergy legal memos and emails outlining the company’s regulatory 

strategies for avoiding an electricity rate decrease as a result of the upcoming requirement that 

FirstEnergy file a new rate case in 2024.  

 

 On January 28, 2019, Dowling sent Jones a text message referencing a conversation that 

Dowling had with Randazzo on solving the “2024 issue,” a reference having to file a new rate case in 

2024: 

 

 
  

That same day, January 28, 2019, an online article was published raising the possibility that Randazzo 

had financial ties to FirstEnergy. The author of the article discovered a reference to Sustainability 

Funding Alliance of Ohio as a “Potential Party in Interest” in a 108-page December 21, 2018 filing in 

the FirstEnergy Solutions bankruptcy case. On January 30, 2019, Jones and Dowling exchanged text 

messages discussing the possibility that Randazzo would pull out of the nomination process. Jones 

made the statement during the conversation “Back to the Legislative Fix for the Ohio hole.” 
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Lobbying for Passage of HB 6 

 

 On April 3, 2019, shortly before Randazzo was confirmed to become the next PUCO 

Chairman, Dowling emailed Randazzo a draft copy of the proposed legislation that would become 

House Bill 6 (or “HB 6”). FirstEnergy lobbied for passage for HB 6 because it would generate 

millions of dollars of government subsidies for Ohio’s two nuclear power plants, which had been 

losing money for FirstEnergy. As a result of those losses, FirstEnergy spun off its electricity 

generating assets into a new company, FirstEnergy Solutions, which had to file for bankruptcy 

protection. By guaranteeing a subsidy for the nuclear power plants, FirstEnergy believed that HB 6 

would allow FirstEnergy Solutions to emerge from bankruptcy as a viable, independent business 

entity without any further drag on FirstEnergy’s core electricity distribution business. The HB 6 

proposal also would “decouple” FirstEnergy’s electricity rates, eliminating energy efficiency 

mandates while also cutting the tie between the company’s revenue and the amount of electricity it 

sold. Instead, HB 6 would allow FirstEnergy to peg revenue it earned from customers to 2018 

electricity rates—a year with record high electricity consumption and record high electricity rates.  

This process is known as “decoupling” and would also be part of HB6, along with the nuclear 

generation subsidies.  Jones and Dowling viewed both of those key HB 6 proposals as crucial to 

FirstEnergy’s continued profitability.  

 

 On June 28, 2019, as HB 6 was moving towards a vote in the Ohio House of 

Representatives, Dowling and Jones had the following text exchange:  

 

 
In that same string, Dowling then sent Jones images of text messages that Dowling had exchanged 

with Randazzo concerning the operation of HB 6 decoupling provisions: 
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 The June 26, 2019 text conversation between Jones and Dowling referenced Randazzo 

working with Pat Tully, who was then working as a senior advisor to the Ohio House of 

Representatives Republican Caucus and who was responsible for drafting the HB 6 legislation. While 

also working as Chairman of the PUCO, Randazzo helped Tully draft the legislative language that 

became HB 6. Randazzo used his personal email address to exchange drafts with Tully, and also 

physically exchanged drafts with Tully using hard copies. 

  

 On July 10, 2019, Dowling had a text message exchange with John Kiani, the Chairman of 

FirstEnergy Solutions. Kiani had been pushing for language in HB 6 that would have limited the 

State’s ability to audit how FirstEnergy Solutions used nuclear bailout money that the legislation 

produced. The following exchange took place between Dowling and Kiani on July 10, 2019:  

 
 

The next day, on July 11, 2019, Jones and Dowling had a text message exchange in which Dowling 
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described a conversation he had with Randazzo about the HB 6 the audit issue, and Randazzo’s work 

lobbying for passage of HB 6 on behalf of FirstEnergy:  

 

 
  

 That same day, July 11, 2019, Randazzo sent an email to the Governor and his Chief of 

Staff. In the email, Randazzo described the HB 6 audit proposal and downplayed the effectiveness of 

the audit provision:  

 

 
  

 On July 13, 2019, as HB 6 neared a crucial vote in the Ohio Senate, the following text 

exchange took place between Jones and Dowling:  

 

 
Then, on July 16, 2019, Jones and Dowling had another text conversation detailing Randazzo’s efforts 
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to help win passage of HB 6:  

 

 

 
 

On July 23, 2019, the Ohio House of Representatives passed the concurrence vote for HB 6 and the 

Governor signed HB 6 into law.  

 

Eliminating the 2024 Rate Case (“the Ohio Hole”) 

  

 In late 2019, Jones and Dowling discussed their concern about FirstEnergy’s obligation to 

file a rate case before the PUCO in 2024, and the negative impact that rate case could have on 

FirstEnergy stock. On November 5, 2019, Dowling texted Jones a PDF attachment which consisted of 

a Morgan Stanley downgrade analysis of FirstEnergy due to the looming rate case requirement, with 

the following message:  

 

 
 

Then, on November 10, 2019, Jones initiated a text message conversation with Matt Evans, during 

which he stated: “And, the FE rescue project is not over. At EEI financial conference. Stock is gonna 

get hit with Ohio 2024. Need Sam to get rid of the “Ohio 2024” hole.”  

 

 Five days later, on November 15, 2019, Jones and Dowling had a text message conversation 

about Randazzo fixing the “2024 issue.” The exchange detailed a conversation Jones had had with 

Steve Fleishman, a stock analyst who works for Wolfe Research and who focuses on FirstEnergy 

stock, as well as a conversation Dowling had with Randazzo.  The text conversation detailed the CEO 

and Chief Lobbyist for one of Ohio’s major electric utilities having obtained advance knowledge of a 
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major favorable decision in a pending PUCO case by the PUCO Chairman. In Ohio, any parties to a 

PUCO Case may not have ex parte communications with PUCO commissioners about the merits of a 

case. See OAC 4901-1-09. Nevertheless, the following exchange took place between Dowling and 

Jones: 

 

 
  

 On November 21, 2019, Jones and Dowling exchanged the following messages in which 

Jones suggested that Dowling provide Randazzo with language to use in his decision eliminating 

FirstEnergy’s requirement to file a rate case in 2024: 
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Dowling then texted Jones an image of the portion of the opinion Randazzo wrote for the PUCO, 

eliminating FirstEnergy’s obligation to file a new rate case in 2024: 

 
The next day, on November 22, 2019, Jones texted Randazzo directly to thank him for the positive 

effect Randazzo’s decision had on FirstEnergy’s stock price. The November 22, 2019 text exchange 

between Jones and Randazzo follows:  
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 Afterwards, in November 2020, FirstEnergy Senior Vice President of Product Development, 

Marketing and Branding Dennis Chack enlisted Jones assistance in obtaining PUCO approval for a 

license to become a competitive electric power broker. Jones and Chack had a conversation whether 

Randazzo could help FirstEnergy with the license issue. As a result, the following text exchange 

between Chack and Jones took place on November 4, 2020. In the exchange, Jones cautioned Chack 

against relying too heavily on Randazzo for the licensing issue because people were becoming 

suspicious that Randazzo really worked for FirstEnergy: 

 

 
 

The Aftermath 

 

 In July 2020, federal law enforcement authorities arrested Ohio House of Representative 

Larry Householder based on a complaint that Householder had accepted bribes from FirstEnergy to 
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win passage of HB 6. In the ensuing weeks, Randazzo began internally lobbying PUCO staff 

members between July 2020 and September 2020 to generate strategies to save HB 6, despite facing 

internal objections about the inappropriateness of the effort to save HB 6. One example of Randazzo’s 

lobbying took place on September 15, 2020: 

 

 
 

 

  
  

Count Three  Bribery, §2921.02, F3 

Defendants Samuel Randazzo 

Date of Offense In a continuing course of conduct on or about 12/18/2018 through 

1/2/2019 

The Jurors of the Grand Jury of the State of Ohio, upon their oaths, within Summit and/or Franklin 

Counties, the Defendant(s) unlawfully did knowingly solicit or accept for himself or another person 

any valuable thing or valuable benefit, to wit: cash, to wit: $4,333,333.00, to corrupt or improperly 

influence him or another public servant or party official with respect to the discharge of his or the 

other public servant’s or party official’s duty, either before or after he was elected, appointed, 

qualified, employed, summoned, or sworn as a public servant or party official.  
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Count Four  Aggravated Theft of One Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars or 

More, §2913.02, F1 

Defendants Michael J. Dowling, Charles E. Jones 

Date of Offense In a continuing course of conduct on or about 12/18/2018 through 

1/2/2019 

The Jurors of the Grand Jury of the State of Ohio, upon their oaths, further find that within Summit 

and/or Franklin Counties, the Defendant(s) unlawfully did with purpose to deprive the owner, 

FirstEnergy Corp., a publicly traded corporation, and/or the shareholders of FirstEnergy Corp., a 

publicly traded corporation, of property or services, to wit: cash, to wit: $4,333,333.00, knowingly 

obtain or exert control over either the property or services without the consent of the owner or person 

authorized to give consent.  

 

Jones and Dowling stole $4,333,333.00 of FirstEnergy’s money when they spent it for an illegal 

purpose. FirstEnergy’s Corp’s 2018 Code of Business Conduct states that “[c]ompany assets and 

funds may be used only for legitimate business purposes and may never be used for illegal purposes.” 

On July 22, 2021, FirstEnergy Corp. entered into a Deferred Prosecution Agreement with the United 

States of America in S.D. Ohio Case No. 1:21-cr-86. In that agreement, FirstEnergy Corp. admitted 

that the $4,333,333.00 payment it made on January 2, 2019 to Randazzo was part of a conspiracy “to 

defraud the public of its right to the honest services of a public official through bribery or kickbacks.” 

In the statement of facts that accompanied the deferred prosecution agreement, FirstEnergy agreed 

that “After his appointment as PUCO Chairman, [Randazzo] performed official action, including acts 

related to House Bill 6 and the elimination of FirstEnergy Corp.’s requirement to file a new base rate 

case in 2024, furthering FirstEnergy Corp.’s specific legislative and regulatory interests at the 

direction of and in coordination with certain FirstEnergy Corp. executives, as FirstEnergy Corp. 

requested and as opportunities arose.” 

 

Furthermore, the property or services stolen is valued at one million five hundred thousand dollars or 

more. 

 

  
  

Count Five  Aggravated Theft of One Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars or 

More, §2913.02, F1 

Defendants Michael J. Dowling, Charles E. Jones 

Date of Offense In a continuing course of conduct on or about 12/18/2018 through 

1/2/2019 

The Jurors of the Grand Jury of the State of Ohio, upon their oaths, further find that within Summit 

and/or Franklin Counties, the Defendant(s) unlawfully did with purpose to deprive the owner, 

FirstEnergy Corp., a publicly traded corporation, and/or the shareholders of FirstEnergy Corp., a 

publicly traded corporation, of property or services, to wit: cash, to wit: $4,333,333.00, knowingly 

obtain or exert control over either the property or services beyond the scope of the express or implied 

consent of the owner or person authorized to give consent.  
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Jones and Dowling stole $4,333,333.00 of FirstEnergy’s money when they spent it for an illegal 

purpose. FirstEnergy’s Corp’s 2018 Code of Business Conduct states that “[c]ompany assets and 

funds may be used only for legitimate business purposes and may never be used for illegal purposes.” 

On July 22, 2021, FirstEnergy Corp. entered into a Deferred Prosecution Agreement with the United 

States of America in S.D. Ohio Case No. 1:21-cr-86. In that agreement, FirstEnergy Corp. admitted 

that the $4,333,333.00 payment it made on January 2, 2019 to Randazzo was part of a conspiracy “to 

defraud the public of its right to the honest services of a public official through bribery or kickbacks.” 

In the statement of facts that accompanied the deferred prosecution agreement, FirstEnergy agreed 

that “After his appointment as PUCO Chairman, [Randazzo] performed official action, including acts 

related to House Bill 6 and the elimination of FirstEnergy Corp.’s requirement to file a new base rate 

case in 2024, furthering FirstEnergy Corp.’s specific legislative and regulatory interests at the 

direction of and in coordination with certain FirstEnergy Corp. executives, as FirstEnergy Corp. 

requested and as opportunities arose.” 

 

Furthermore, the property or services stolen is valued at one million five hundred thousand dollars or 

more. 

 

  
  

Count Six  Telecommunications Fraud, §2913.05, F1 

Defendants Samuel Randazzo, Michael J. Dowling, Charles E. Jones, Sustainability 

Funding Alliance of Ohio, Inc. 

Date of Offense In a continuing course of conduct on or about January 2, 2019 

The Jurors of the Grand Jury of the State of Ohio, upon their oaths, further find that within Summit 

and/or Franklin Counties, the Defendant(s) unlawfully having devised a scheme to defraud, did 

knowingly disseminate, transmit, or cause to be disseminated or transmitted by means of a wire, 

radio, satellite, telecommunication, telecommunications device, or telecommunication service any 

writing, data, sign, signal, picture, sound, or image with purpose to execute or otherwise further the 

scheme to defraud and the violation occurred as part of a course of conduct involving other violations 

of division (A) of this section or violations of, attempts to violate, conspiracies to violate, or 

complicity in violations of section 2913.02, 2913.04, 2913.11, 2913.21, 2913.31, 2913.42, 2913.43, or 

2921.13 of the Revise Code and the value of the benefit obtained by the offender or of the detriment 

to the victim of the fraud is one million or more.  

 

  
  

Count Seven  Money Laundering, §1315.55, F3 

Defendants Samuel Randazzo, Michael J. Dowling, Charles E. Jones, Sustainability 

Funding Alliance of Ohio, Inc. 

Date of Offense In a continuing course of conduct on or about 12/18/2018 through 

1/2/2019 
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The Jurors of the Grand Jury of the State of Ohio, upon their oaths, further find that within Summit 

and/or Franklin Counties, the Defendant(s) unlawfully did conduct or attempt to conduct a transaction 

knowing that the property involved in the transaction was the proceeds of some form of unlawful 

activity with the intent to conceal or disguise the nature, location, source, ownership, or control of the 

property or the intent to avoid a transaction reporting requirement under section 1315.53 of the 

Revised Code or federal law.  

 

  
  

Count Eight  Money Laundering, §1315.55, F3 

Defendants Samuel Randazzo, Michael J. Dowling, Charles E. Jones, Sustainability 

Funding Alliance of Ohio, Inc. 

Date of Offense In a continuing course of conduct on or about 12/18/2018 through 

1/2/2019 

The Jurors of the Grand Jury of the State of Ohio, upon their oaths, further find that within Summit 

and/or Franklin Counties, the Defendant(s) unlawfully did conduct or structure or attempt to conduct 

or structure a transaction that involved the proceeds of corrupt activity that was of a value greater than 

ten thousand dollars and the person knew or had reasonable cause to know that the transaction 

involved the proceeds of corrupt activity.  

 

  
  

Count Nine  Tampering with Records, §2913.42, F3 

Defendants Samuel Randazzo 

Date of Offense In a continuing course of conduct on or about February 19, 2018 

The Jurors of the Grand Jury of the State of Ohio, upon their oaths, further find that within Summit 

and/or Franklin Counties, the Defendant(s) unlawfully did, knowing he had no privilege to do so, and 

with purpose to defraud or knowing he was facilitating a fraud on the Ohio Ethics Commission 

falsify, destroy, remove, conceal, alter, deface, or mutilate any writing, computer software, data, or 

record, to wit: Ohio Ethics Commission Financial Disclosure Form OEC-2017 and the writing, data, 

computer software, or record was kept by or belonged to a local, state, or federal governmental entity.  

Samuel Randazzo failed to disclose that he had earned income from FirstEnergy Corp. in 2017. In 

fact, FirstEnergy Corp. had paid Randazzo income through Randazzo’s corporate alter-ego, 

Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio, Inc. (“SFA-Ohio”). Randazzo was the owner and sole 

employee of SFA-Ohio, which Randazzo treated as a pass-through entity. Randazzo claimed SFA-

Ohio’s income as personal income on his federal and state income tax returns. 
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Count Ten  Tampering with Records, §2913.42, F3 

Defendants Samuel Randazzo 

Date of Offense In a continuing course of conduct on or about April 15, 2019 

The Jurors of the Grand Jury of the State of Ohio, upon their oaths, further find that within Summit 

and/or Franklin Counties, the Defendant(s) unlawfully did, knowing he had no privilege to do so, and 

with purpose to defraud or knowing he was facilitating a fraud on the Ohio Ethics Commission 

falsify, destroy, remove, conceal, alter, deface, or mutilate any writing, computer software, data, or 

record, to wit: Ohio Ethics Commission Financial Disclosure Form OEC-2018 and the writing, data, 

computer software, or record was kept by or belonged to a local, state, or federal governmental entity.  

Samuel Randazzo failed to disclose that he had earned income from FirstEnergy Corp. in 2018. In 

fact, FirstEnergy Corp. had paid Randazzo income through Randazzo’s corporate alter-ego, 

Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio, Inc. (“SFA-Ohio”). Randazzo was the owner and sole 

employee of SFA-Ohio, which Randazzo treated as a pass-through entity. Randazzo claimed SFA-

Ohio’s income as personal income on his federal and state income tax returns. 

  
  

Count Eleven  Tampering with Records, §2913.42, F3 

Defendants Samuel Randazzo 

Date of Offense In a continuing course of conduct on or about February 25, 2020 

The Jurors of the Grand Jury of the State of Ohio, upon their oaths, further find that within Summit 

and/or Franklin Counties, the Defendant(s) unlawfully did, knowing he had no privilege to do so, and 

with purpose to defraud or knowing he was facilitating a fraud on the Ohio Ethics Commission 

falsify, destroy, remove, conceal, alter, deface, or mutilate any writing, computer software, data, or 

record, to wit: Ohio Ethics Commission Financial Disclosure Form OEC-2019 and the writing, data, 

computer software, or record was kept by or belonged to a local, state, or federal governmental entity.  

Samuel Randazzo failed to disclose that he had earned income from Sustainability Funding Alliance 

of Ohio, Inc. (“SFA-Ohio”) in 2019. Samuel Randazzo also failed to disclose that he had earned 

income from FirstEnergy Corp. in 2019. In fact, FirstEnergy Corp. had paid Randazzo income 

through Randazzo’s corporate alter-ego, SFA-Ohio. Randazzo was the owner and sole employee of 

SFA-Ohio, which Randazzo treated as a pass-through entity. Randazzo claimed SFA-Ohio’s income 

as personal income on his federal and state income tax returns. 

  
  

Count Twelve  Tampering with Records, §2913.42, F3 

Defendants Samuel Randazzo 

Date of Offense In a continuing course of conduct on or about September 16, 2020 

The Jurors of the Grand Jury of the State of Ohio, upon their oaths, further find that within Summit 

and/or Franklin Counties, the Defendant(s) unlawfully did, knowing he had no privilege to do so, and 

with purpose to defraud or knowing he was facilitating a fraud on the Ohio House of Representatives, 

and/or the Ohio House of Representatives Select Committee on Energy Policy and Oversight, and/or 
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the Ohio Broadcast Educational Media Commission falsify, destroy, remove, conceal, alter, deface, or 

mutilate any writing, computer software, data, or record, to wit: video of September 16, 2020 

testimony before the Ohio House of Representatives Select Committee on Energy Policy and 

Oversight. and the writing, data, computer software, or record was kept by or belonged to a local, 

state, or federal governmental entity.  

On September 16, 2020, Samuel C. Randazzo appeared before and gave testimony to the Ohio House 

of Representatives Select Committee on Energy Policy and Oversight. The hearing was recorded by 

the Ohio Statehouse Media Center and broadcast by the Ohio Broadcast Education Media 

Commission, an agency of the state performing essential governmental functions of the State of Ohio.  

 

During Randazzo’s testimony, State Representative Casey Weinstein asked Randazzo at timecode 

27:37: “I think it’s important for the public to know, Mr. Chairman, have you or the companies you 

own or control ever had contracts or done business with FirstEnergy or FirstEnergy Solutions?” In 

response, Randazzo stated:  

 

I will tell you however, that I have never represented as a lawyer or as a lobbyist any 

electric utility regulated by the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio or the Federal 

Energy Regulatory Commission and the same is true for any affiliate of a public 

utility, regulated by the public utilities, electric public utility regulated by the public 

utilities commission and the federal energy regulatory commission of Ohio. 

 

In fact, however, FirstEnergy Corp. and/or its subsidiaries and affiliates had paid Randazzo to lobby 

legislative and executive branch officials in Ohio for various policies and legislation it favored and 

which affected FirstEnergy Corp.’s profitability, including but not limited to: the cost of the 

Distribution Modernization Rider, the language, operation and passage of House Bill 6, and the 

elimination of the requirement that FirstEnergy Corp. file a PUCO rate case in 2024.  

  
  

Count Thirteen  Tampering with Records, §2913.42, F3 

Defendants Samuel Randazzo 

Date of Offense In a continuing course of conduct on or about December 8, 2020 

The Jurors of the Grand Jury of the State of Ohio, upon their oaths, further find that within Summit 

and/or Franklin Counties, the Defendant(s) unlawfully did, knowing he had no privilege to do so, and 

with purpose to defraud or knowing he was facilitating a fraud on the Ohio Ethics Commission 

falsify, destroy, remove, conceal, alter, deface, or mutilate any writing, computer software, data, or 

record, to wit: December 8, 2020 letter to Ohio Ethics Commission Executive Director Paul Nick and 

the writing, data, computer software, or record was kept by or belonged to a local, state, or federal 

governmental entity.  

On November 25, 2020, Ohio Ethics Commission Executive Director Paul Nick sent a letter to 

Samuel C. Randazzo notifying him of public reports that Randazzo had received a payment of 

approximately $4 million dollars from “FirstEnergy or one of its affiliated entities” in early 2019. 

Nick’s letter demanded that Randazzo review his Financial Disclosure Statements and “forward to the 

Commission the information necessary to achieve compliance with the filing requirements of Revised 

Code Section 102.02.” In response, Randazzo sent a letter back to Nick--which was file stamped as 
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Received by the Ohio Ethics Commission on December 8, 2020--in which Randazzo failed to disclose 

to Nick that he had received income from FirstEnergy Corp. in 2019.  

 

Randazzo’s December 8, 2020 letter also provided Nick information concerning his prior financial 

disclosure statements, OEC-2013, OEC-2014, OEC-2015, OEC-2016, OEC-2017, and OEC-2018, but 

Randazzo omitted any mention of the fact that he had earned income from FirstEnergy Corp. between 

2013 and 2018 through Sustainability Funding Alliance and IEU-Ohio Administration, LLC. IEU-

Ohio Administration, LLC, is a “C-Corp” that was wholly owned by Samuel C. Randazzo and which 

had no other employees apart from Randazzo. Randazzo treated IEU-Ohio Administration, LLC as a 

pass-through entity. Randazzo claimed IEU-Ohio Administration LLC’s income on Randazzo’s 

personal federal and state income taxes.  

 

In his December 8, 2020 letter, Randazzo also omitted the fact that he had loaned Michael Dawson 

$10,000 in 2016. 

 

 

  
  

Count Fourteen  Tampering with Records, §2913.42, F3 

Defendants Samuel Randazzo 

Date of Offense In a continuing course of conduct on or about May 10, 2021 

The Jurors of the Grand Jury of the State of Ohio, upon their oaths, further find that within Summit 

and/or Franklin Counties, the Defendant(s) unlawfully did, knowing he had no privilege to do so, and 

with purpose to defraud or knowing he was facilitating a fraud on the Ohio Ethics Commission 

falsify, destroy, remove, conceal, alter, deface, or mutilate any writing, computer software, data, or 

record, to wit: May 10, 2021 letter to Ohio Ethics Commission Executive Director Paul Nick and the 

writing, data, computer software, or record was kept by or belonged to a local, state, or federal 

governmental entity.  

In a December 22, 2020 Letter, Ohio Ethics Commission Executive Director Paul Nick wrote a letter 

to Samuel C. Randazzo’s attorney, Roger Sugarman. In the letter, Nick quoted Randazzo’s December 

8, 2020 letter in which Randazzo described income from Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio. 

Nick’s letter then stated that “Ohio Revised Code 102.02(A)(2)(b) further requires that filers disclose 

both the identity of and the amount of income received from a legislative agent and/or anyone who 

was doing or seeking to do business of any kind with the public official’s agency. This information 

should be added to the above referenced request to add information to his previously filed 

statements.” In response, Randazzo emailed Nick a letter on May 20, 2021. In the May 20, 2021 

letter, Randazzo again failed to disclose that FirstEnergy Corp. had been the source of income that 

Randazzo received in 2019 through his corporate alter-ego, Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio. 
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Count Fifteen  Aggravated Theft, §2913.02, F2 

Defendants Samuel Randazzo, Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio, Inc. 

Date of Offense In a continuing course of conduct on or about 1/11/2016 through 7/1/2018 

The Jurors of the Grand Jury of the State of Ohio, upon their oaths, further find that within Summit 

and/or Franklin Counties, the Defendant(s) unlawfully did with purpose to deprive the owner, 

Industrial Energy Users of Ohio and its members, of property or services, to wit: $1,246,540.83, 

knowingly obtain or exert control over either the property or services without the consent of the 

owner or person authorized to give consent.  

Furthermore, the property or services stolen is valued at seven hundred fifty thousand dollars or more. 

Samuel C. Randazzo, while working as general counsel for the non-profit trade group, Industrial 

Energy Users of Ohio (“IEU-Ohio”), enrolled his own company, Sustainability Funding Alliance of 

Ohio, Inc. (“SFA Ohio”), as an “anonymous” opt-in member of IEU-Ohio. Randazzo enrolled his 

own company as an anonymous opt-in member without the knowledge or consent of IEU-Ohio’s 

other members or board of directors. SFA Ohio did not meet the membership criteria of IEU-Ohio 

because it was a shell company with no employees other than Randazzo, and it had no commercial, 

manufacturing or industrial operations that would consume large amounts of energy. By enrolling 

SFA Ohio to become an anonymous opt-in member of IEU-Ohio, Randazzo stole portions of cash 

settlements (also known as “side deals”) that Randazzo negotiated with FirstEnergy Corp. and 

American Electric Power, Inc. in cases before the PUCO.  

  
  

Count Sixteen  Aggravated Theft, §2913.02, F2 

Defendants Samuel Randazzo, Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio, Inc. 

Date of Offense In a continuing course of conduct on or about 1/11/2016 through 7/1/2018 

The Jurors of the Grand Jury of the State of Ohio, upon their oaths, further find that within Summit 

and/or Franklin Counties, the Defendant(s) unlawfully did with purpose to deprive the owner, 

Industrial Energy Users of Ohio and its members, of property or services, to wit: $1,246,540.83, 

knowingly obtain or exert control over either the property or services beyond the scope of the express 

or implied consent of the owner or person authorized to give consent.  

Furthermore, the property or services stolen is valued at seven hundred fifty thousand dollars or more. 

Samuel C. Randazzo, while working as general counsel for the non-profit trade group, Industrial 

Energy Users of Ohio (“IEU-Ohio”), enrolled his own company, Sustainability Funding Alliance of 

Ohio, Inc. (“SFA Ohio”), as an “anonymous” opt-in member of IEU-Ohio. Randazzo enrolled his 

own company as an anonymous opt-in member without the knowledge or consent of IEU-Ohio’s 

other members or board of directors. SFA Ohio did not meet the membership criteria of IEU-Ohio 

because it was a shell company with no employees other than Randazzo, and it had no commercial, 

manufacturing or industrial operations that would consume large amounts of energy. By enrolling 

SFA Ohio to become an anonymous opt-in member of IEU-Ohio, Randazzo stole portions of cash 

settlements (also known as “side deals”) that Randazzo negotiated with FirstEnergy Corp. and 

American Electric Power, Inc. in cases before the PUCO.  
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Count Seventeen  Money Laundering, §1315.55, F3 

Defendants Samuel Randazzo, Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio, Inc. 

Date of Offense In a continuing course of conduct on or about 1/11/2016 through 7/1/2018 

The Jurors of the Grand Jury of the State of Ohio, upon their oaths, further find that within Summit 

and/or Franklin Counties, the Defendant(s) unlawfully did conduct or attempt to conduct a transaction 

knowing that the property involved in the transaction was the proceeds of some form of unlawful 

activity with the intent to conceal or disguise the nature, location, source, ownership, or control of the 

property or the intent to avoid a transaction reporting requirement under section 1315.53 of the 

Revised Code or federal law.  

Samuel C. Randazzo, while working as general counsel for the non-profit trade group, Industrial 

Energy Users of Ohio (“IEU-Ohio”), enrolled his own company, Sustainability Funding Alliance of 

Ohio, Inc. (“SFA Ohio”), as an “anonymous” opt-in member of IEU-Ohio. Randazzo enrolled his 

own company as an anonymous opt-in member without the knowledge or consent of IEU-Ohio’s 

other members or board of directors. SFA Ohio did not meet the membership criteria of IEU-Ohio 

because it was a shell company with no employees other than Randazzo, and it had no commercial, 

manufacturing or industrial operations that would consume large amounts of energy. By enrolling 

SFA Ohio to become an anonymous opt-in member of IEU-Ohio, Randazzo stole portions of cash 

settlements (also known as “side deals”) that Randazzo negotiated with FirstEnergy Corp. and 

American Electric Power, Inc. in cases before the PUCO. Randazzo transacted the proceeds of the 

stolen settlement money by means of wire transfers to himself and money on account credits that he 

used to pay for his own IEU-Ohio membership dues. 

  
  

Count Eighteen  Money Laundering, §1315.55, F3 

Defendants Samuel Randazzo, Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio, Inc. 

Date of Offense In a continuing course of conduct on or about 1/11/2016 through 7/1/2018 

The Jurors of the Grand Jury of the State of Ohio, upon their oaths, further find that within Summit 

and/or Franklin Counties, the Defendant(s) unlawfully did conduct or structure or attempt to conduct 

or structure a transaction that involved the proceeds of corrupt activity that was of a value greater than 

ten thousand dollars and the person knew or had reasonable cause to know that the transaction 

involved the proceeds of corrupt activity.  

Samuel C. Randazzo, while working as general counsel for the non-profit trade group, Industrial 

Energy Users of Ohio (“IEU-Ohio”), enrolled his own company, Sustainability Funding Alliance of 

Ohio, Inc. (“SFA Ohio”), as an “anonymous” opt-in member of IEU-Ohio. Randazzo enrolled his 

own company as an anonymous opt-in member without the knowledge or consent of IEU-Ohio’s 

other members or board of directors. SFA Ohio did not meet the membership criteria of IEU-Ohio 

because it was a shell company with no employees other than Randazzo, and it had no commercial, 

manufacturing or industrial operations that would consume large amounts of energy. By enrolling 

SFA Ohio to become an anonymous opt-in member of IEU-Ohio, Randazzo stole portions of cash 

settlements (also known as “side deals”) that Randazzo negotiated with FirstEnergy Corp. and 

American Electric Power, Inc. in cases before the PUCO. Randazzo transacted the proceeds of the 

stolen settlement money by means of wire transfers to himself and money on account credits that he 
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used to pay for his own IEU-Ohio membership dues. 

  
 

 

Count Nineteen  Telecommunications Fraud, §2913.05, F1 

Defendants Samuel Randazzo 

Date of Offense In a continuing course of conduct on or about March 6, 2019 

The Jurors of the Grand Jury of the State of Ohio, upon their oaths, further find that within Summit 

and/or Franklin Counties, the Defendant(s) unlawfully having devised a scheme to defraud, did 

knowingly disseminate, transmit, or cause to be disseminated or transmitted by means of a wire, 

radio, satellite, telecommunication, telecommunications device, or telecommunication service any 

writing, data, sign, signal, picture, sound, or image with purpose to execute or otherwise further the 

scheme to defraud and the value of the benefit obtained by the offender or of the detriment to the 

victim of the fraud is one million or more.  

Samuel C. Randazzo set up Charles Schwab investment account ####-6749 (“the Schwab account”) 

in the name of the non-profit trade group he represented, Industrial Energy Users of Ohio (or “IEU-

Ohio”). At the time he set up the Schwab account, Randazzo told his personal financial advisor that 

the Schwab account was intended to be used as a “deferred comp” or “retirement” account for himself 

and his wife, Carol Farmer. Randazzo had funded the Schwab account with proceeds that he stole on 

January 11, 2016 from IEU-Ohio’s 2015 Purchase Power Agreement (or “PPA”) Settlement with 

American Electric Power, Inc. However, on March 3, 2019, Randazzzo directed that $1,104,598.35 be 

sent from the Schwab account to Chase Account ######1600, an account belonging to IEU-Ohio. 

Randazzo then used the $1,104,598.35 he wired to the Chase account to make the final payments to 

IEU-Ohio members of proceeds from IEU-Ohio’s separate undisclosed 2015 “side deal” cash 

settlement with FirstEnergy Corp. in its Electric Security Plan IV (or “ESP IV”) case. Despite using 

the previously stolen funds to make the final payments to IEU-Ohio members from the undisclosed 

ESP-IV cash “side deal,” Randazzo never reimbursed IEU-Ohio or its members for the funds he stole 

from the 2015 AEP PPA settlement.  

  
  

Count Twenty  Money Laundering, §1315.55, F3 

Defendants Samuel Randazzo 

Date of Offense In a continuing course of conduct on or about March 6, 2019 

The Jurors of the Grand Jury of the State of Ohio, upon their oaths, further find that within Summit 

and/or Franklin Counties, the Defendant(s) unlawfully did conduct or attempt to conduct a transaction 

knowing that the property involved in the transaction was the proceeds of some form of unlawful 

activity with the intent to conceal or disguise the nature, location, source, ownership, or control of the 

property or the intent to avoid a transaction reporting requirement under section 1315.53 of the 

Revised Code or federal law.  
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Samuel C. Randazzo set up Charles Schwab investment account ####-6749 (“the Schwab account”) 

in the name of the non-profit trade group he represented, Industrial Energy Users of Ohio (or “IEU-

Ohio”). At the time he set up the Schwab account, Randazzo told his personal financial advisor that 

the Schwab account was intended to be used as a “deferred comp” or “retirement” account for himself 

and his wife, Carol Farmer. Randazzo had funded the Schwab account with proceeds that he stole on 

January 11, 2016 from IEU-Ohio’s 2015 Purchase Power Agreement (or “PPA”) Settlement with 

American Electric Power, Inc. However, on March 3, 2019, Randazzzo directed that $1,104,598.35 be 

sent from the Schwab account to Chase Account ######1600, an account belonging to IEU-Ohio. 

Randazzo then used the $1,104,598.35 he wired to the Chase account to make the final payments to 

IEU-Ohio members of proceeds from IEU-Ohio’s separate undisclosed 2015 “side deal” cash 

settlement with FirstEnergy Corp. in its Electric Security Plan IV (or “ESP IV”) case. Despite using 

the previously stolen funds to make the final payments to IEU-Ohio members from the undisclosed 

ESP-IV cash “side deal,” Randazzo never reimbursed IEU-Ohio or its members for the funds he stole 

from the 2015 AEP PPA settlement. 

  
  

Count Twenty-One  Money Laundering, §1315.55, F3 

Defendants Samuel Randazzo 

Date of Offense In a continuing course of conduct on or about March 6, 2019 

The Jurors of the Grand Jury of the State of Ohio, upon their oaths, further find that within Summit 

and/or Franklin Counties, the Defendant(s) unlawfully did conduct or structure or attempt to conduct 

or structure a transaction that involved the proceeds of corrupt activity that was of a value greater than 

ten thousand dollars and the person knew or had reasonable cause to know that the transaction 

involved the proceeds of corrupt activity.  

Samuel C. Randazzo set up Charles Schwab investment account ####-6749 (“the Schwab account”) 

in the name of the non-profit trade group he represented, Industrial Energy Users of Ohio (or “IEU-

Ohio”). At the time he set up the Schwab account, Randazzo told his personal financial advisor that 

the Schwab account was intended to be used as a “deferred comp” or “retirement” account for himself 

and his wife, Carol Farmer. Randazzo had funded the Schwab account with proceeds that he stole on 

January 11, 2016 from IEU-Ohio’s 2015 Purchase Power Agreement (or “PPA”) Settlement with 

American Electric Power, Inc. However, on March 3, 2019, Randazzzo directed that $1,104,598.35 be 

sent from the Schwab account to Chase Account ######1600, an account belonging to IEU-Ohio. 

Randazzo then used the $1,104,598.35 he wired to the Chase account to make the final payments to 

IEU-Ohio members of proceeds from IEU-Ohio’s separate undisclosed 2015 “side deal” cash 

settlement with FirstEnergy Corp. in its Electric Security Plan IV (or “ESP IV”) case. Despite using 

the previously stolen funds to make the final payments to IEU-Ohio members from the undisclosed 

ESP-IV cash “side deal,” Randazzo never reimbursed IEU-Ohio or its members for the funds he stole 

from the 2015 AEP PPA settlement. 
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Count Twenty-Two  Grand Theft, §2913.02, F4 

Defendants Samuel Randazzo, IEU-Ohio Administration Co. LLC 

Date of Offense In a continuing course of conduct on or about 12/22/2018 through 

12/31/2018 

The Jurors of the Grand Jury of the State of Ohio, upon their oaths, further find that within Summit 

and/or Franklin Counties, the Defendant(s) unlawfully did with purpose to deprive the owner, 

Industrial Energy Users of Ohio, of property or services, to wit: $50,000, knowingly obtain or exert 

control over either the property or services beyond the scope of the express or implied consent of the 

owner or person authorized to give consent.  

Furthermore, the property or services stolen is valued at seven thousand five hundred dollars or more. 

Between December 22, 2018 and December 31, 2018, Samuel C. Randazzo paid two employees of 

his law firm, Individual 1 and Individual 2, $20,000 and $30,000 respectively. Randazzo made the 

payments to Individuals 1 and 2 using an account belonging to IEU-Ohio Administration, LLC, a 

corporation wholly owned by Randazzo and which was separate and distinct from the non-profit trade 

group that he represented, Industrial Energy Users of Ohio (or “IEU-Ohio”). Randazzo referred to the 

payments as “bonuses,” but had required the Individuals to submit Invoices to IEU-Ohio for the 

payments.  

 

Randazzo obtained the funds used to pay the bonuses from money he stole from IEU by means of a 

fraudulent 2010 “Invoice” agreement with FirstEnergy. That agreement, which Randazzo never 

disclosed to his client, purported to contain an “Irrevocable Assignment of Claims” in which 

Randazzo, on behalf of IEU-Ohio, assigned all of his client’s rights to claims against FirstEnergy, to 

his two shell companies, SFA Ohio and IEU-Ohio Administration. The 2010 “Invoice Agreement” 

committed FirstEnergy to pay six annual payments of $1,000,000 to SFA Ohio and six annual 

payments of $500,000 to IEU-Ohio Administration, LLC. Randazzo never disclosed either the 

“Invoice” agreement or the “Irrevocable Assignment of Claims” to his IEU-Ohio client.  

  
  

Count Twenty-Three  Telecommunications Fraud, §2913.05, F1 

Defendants Samuel Randazzo, Michael J. Dowling, Charles E. Jones, IEU-Ohio 

Administration Co. LLC, Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio, Inc. 

Date of Offense In a continuing course of conduct on or about 5/5/2015 through 6/6/2018 

The Jurors of the Grand Jury of the State of Ohio, upon their oaths, further find that within Summit 

and/or Franklin Counties, the Defendant(s) unlawfully having devised a scheme to defraud, did 

knowingly disseminate, transmit, or cause to be disseminated or transmitted by means of a wire, 

radio, satellite, telecommunication, telecommunications device, or telecommunication service any 

writing, data, sign, signal, picture, sound, or image with purpose to execute or otherwise further the 

scheme to defraud and the value of the benefit obtained by the offender or of the detriment to the 

victim of the fraud is one million or more.  

On January 8, 2013, Randazzo entered into a “consulting agreement” with FirstEnergy Service Corp. 

in which Randazzo would receive an additional $2,100,000.00 over five years, according to an 

attached term sheet, for a “time commitment” of 4,260 hours. The 2013 consulting agreement 
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contained a mutual confidentiality agreement preventing either party from disclosing its existence. 

Randazzo did not notify or obtain IEU-Ohio’s consent to enter into the 2013 agreement with 

FirstEnergy Service Corp, nor did he disclose or obtain the consent of the partners of his law firm, 

whose membership agreement barred Randazzo from outside employment. 

 

On January 8, 2013, the same day that Randazzo signed the consulting agreement, he emailed his wife 

Carol Farmer, stating “In the agreements (including Attachment A), I set up monthly payments for a 

five year term. In the event that I die or am disabled, the monthly payments (with a modest discount) 

still must be paid by FE to Sustainability (a corporation that I own and you will own in the event I 

die). This revenue stream * * * should go a long way towards helping your[sic] financially after I am 

not able to do so.” Randazzo added “this FirstEnergy contract has value that may not have been 

obvious from our earlier discussions.” 

 

In March 2015, Randazzo entered into settlement discussions with FirstEnergy Corp. over its Electric 

Security Plan IV (or “ESP IV”), a case before the PUCO in which Randazzo had intervened on behalf 

of IEU-Ohio and filed objections. On March 25, 2015, in response to an email sent by Randazzo, 

Ebony Yeboah, a FirstEnergy lawyer, replied: “As we discussed and agreed any provisions for IEU-

Ohio pertaining to the ESP must be in our filed settlement or filed separately as a “side agreement”. I 

appreciate that your email below discusses ESP disputes and a number of unrelated disputes that we 

are working to resolve. I think the email (although clear to me because I was on a call with you) can 

be read to blend the matters.” Nevertheless, on May 1, 2015, Randazzo sent an email to Yeboah 

containing a draft agreement and a message: “See attached for suggestions simplifying modifications 

to the SFA/FESC agreement.” Then, on May 28, 2015, Randazzo sent then-PUCO Chairman Barcy 

McNeal a letter notifying him that IEU-Ohio was withdrawing its witnesses and opposition to ESP-

IV. The amended agreement did not substantially modify any of the terms of the earlier 2013 

agreement, except that it provided for SFA-Ohio and Randazzo to receive an additional $8,549,998 

until 2024, in addition to the $2,100,000 already provided for in the 2013 agreement. The 2015 

amended agreement also required that “FirstEnergy Service Company executives will participate 

jointly with the Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio, in meetings with the President the Senate 

and Speaker of the House to explain needed adjustments to Senate Bill 310 streamlined opt out to 

mercantile customers” for an effective date of January 1, 2017. The 2015 agreement does not appear 

to have been signed by either party. Neither Randazzo nor FirstEnergy at any time notified the Ohio 

Joint Legislative Ethics Commission that Randazzo would serve as a paid legislative agent of 

FirstEnergy as a result of the “amended agreement.”  

 

The publicly available ESP IV settlement does contain settlement terms for IEU-Ohio, including 

favorable electricity rate terms for IEU-Ohio members. Neither Randazzo nor FirstEnergy Corp., 

however, disclosed the existence of a cash “side deal” for IEU-Ohio members. In Ohio, cash “side 

deals” between electric utilities and large industrial trade groups are extremely controversial. Because 

FirstEnergy Corp. was able to pay IEU-Ohio and Randazzo to withdraw IEU-Ohio’s opposition to 

ESP IV, FirstEnergy Corp. was able to obtain a favorable outcome before the PUCO. IEU-Ohio’s 

members and Randazzo obtained cash payments under the guise of a “consulting agreement.” 

FirstEnergy Service Corp. payments to Randazzo’s shell companies were made by means of wire 

transfers. 
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Count Twenty-Four  Money Laundering, §1315.55, F3 

Defendants Samuel Randazzo, Michael J. Dowling, Charles E. Jones, IEU-Ohio 

Administration Co. LLC, Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio, Inc. 

Date of Offense In a continuing course of conduct on or about 5/5/2015 through 6/6/2018 

The Jurors of the Grand Jury of the State of Ohio, upon their oaths, further find that within Summit 

and/or Franklin Counties, the Defendant(s) unlawfully did conduct or attempt to conduct a transaction 

knowing that the property involved in the transaction was the proceeds of some form of unlawful 

activity with the intent to conceal or disguise the nature, location, source, ownership, or control of the 

property or the intent to avoid a transaction reporting requirement under section 1315.53 of the 

Revised Code or federal law.  

On January 8, 2013, Randazzo entered into a “consulting agreement” with FirstEnergy Service Corp. 

in which Randazzo would receive an additional $2,100,000.00 over five years, according to an 

attached term sheet, for a “time commitment” of 4,260 hours. The 2013 consulting agreement 

contained a mutual confidentiality agreement preventing either party from disclosing its existence. 

Randazzo did not notify or obtain IEU-Ohio’s consent to enter into the 2013 agreement with 

FirstEnergy Service Corp, nor did he disclose or obtain the consent of the partners of his law firm, 

whose membership agreement barred Randazzo from outside employment. 

 

On January 8, 2013, the same day that Randazzo signed the consulting agreement, he emailed his wife 

Carol Farmer, stating “In the agreements (including Attachment A), I set up monthly payments for a 

five year term. In the event that I die or am disabled, the monthly payments (with a modest discount) 

still must be paid by FE to Sustainability (a corporation that I own and you will own in the event I 

die). This revenue stream * * * should go a long way towards helping your[sic] financially after I am 

not able to do so.” Randazzo added “this FirstEnergy contract has value that may not have been 

obvious from our earlier discussions.” 

 

In March 2015, Randazzo entered into settlement discussions with FirstEnergy Corp. over its Electric 

Security Plan IV (or “ESP IV”), a case before the PUCO in which Randazzo had intervened on behalf 

of IEU-Ohio and filed objections. On March 25, 2015, in response to an email sent by Randazzo, 

Ebony Yeboah, a FirstEnergy lawyer, replied: “As we discussed and agreed any provisions for IEU-

Ohio pertaining to the ESP must be in our filed settlement or filed separately as a “side agreement”. I 

appreciate that your email below discusses ESP disputes and a number of unrelated disputes that we 

are working to resolve. I think the email (although clear to me because I was on a call with you) can 

be read to blend the matters.” Nevertheless, on May 1, 2015, Randazzo sent an email to Yeboah 

containing a draft agreement and a message: “See attached for suggestions simplifying modifications 

to the SFA/FESC agreement.” Then, on May 28, 2015, Randazzo sent then-PUCO Chairman Barcy 

McNeal a letter notifying him that IEU-Ohio was withdrawing its witnesses and opposition to ESP-

IV. The amended agreement did not substantially modify any of the terms of the earlier 2013 

agreement, except that it provided for SFA-Ohio and Randazzo to receive an additional $8,549,998 

until 2024, in addition to the $2,100,000 already provided for in the 2013 agreement. The 2015 

amended agreement also required that “FirstEnergy Service Company executives will participate 

jointly with the Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio, in meetings with the President the Senate 

and Speaker of the House to explain needed adjustments to Senate Bill 310 streamlined opt out to 

mercantile customers” for an effective date of January 1, 2017. The 2015 agreement does not appear 
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to have been signed by either party. Neither Randazzo nor FirstEnergy at any time notified the Ohio 

Joint Legislative Ethics Commission that Randazzo would serve as a paid legislative agent of 

FirstEnergy as a result of the “amended agreement.”  

 

The publicly available ESP IV settlement does contain settlement terms for IEU-Ohio, including 

favorable electricity rate terms for IEU-Ohio members. Neither Randazzo nor FirstEnergy Corp., 

however, disclosed the existence of a cash “side deal” for IEU-Ohio members. Because FirstEnergy 

Corp. was able to pay IEU-Ohio and Randazzo to withdraw IEU-Ohio’s opposition to ESP IV, 

FirstEnergy Corp. was able to obtain a favorable outcome before the PUCO. IEU-Ohio’s members 

and Randazzo obtained cash payments under the guise of a “consulting agreement.” FirstEnergy 

Service Corp. payments to Randazzo’s shell companies were made by means of wire transfers. 

  
  

Count Twenty-Five  Money Laundering, §1315.55, F3 

Defendants Samuel Randazzo, Michael J. Dowling, Charles E. Jones, IEU-Ohio 

Administration Co. LLC, Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio, Inc. 

Date of Offense In a continuing course of conduct on or about 5/5/2015 through 6/6/2018 

The Jurors of the Grand Jury of the State of Ohio, upon their oaths, further find that within Summit 

and/or Franklin Counties, the Defendant(s) unlawfully did conduct or structure or attempt to conduct 

or structure a transaction that involved the proceeds of corrupt activity that was of a value greater than 

ten thousand dollars and the person knew or had reasonable cause to know that the transaction 

involved the proceeds of corrupt activity.  

On January 8, 2013, Randazzo entered into a “consulting agreement” with FirstEnergy Service Corp. 

in which Randazzo would receive an additional $2,100,000.00 over five years, according to an 

attached term sheet, for a “time commitment” of 4,260 hours. The 2013 consulting agreement 

contained a mutual confidentiality agreement preventing either party from disclosing its existence. 

Randazzo did not notify or obtain IEU-Ohio’s consent to enter into the 2013 agreement with 

FirstEnergy Service Corp, nor did he disclose or obtain the consent of the partners of his law firm, 

whose membership agreement barred Randazzo from outside employment. 

 

On January 8, 2013, the same day that Randazzo signed the consulting agreement, he emailed his wife 

Carol Farmer, stating “In the agreements (including Attachment A), I set up monthly payments for a 

five year term. In the event that I die or am disabled, the monthly payments (with a modest discount) 

still must be paid by FE to Sustainability (a corporation that I own and you will own in the event I 

die). This revenue stream * * * should go a long way towards helping your[sic] financially after I am 

not able to do so.” Randazzo added “this FirstEnergy contract has value that may not have been 

obvious from our earlier discussions.” 

 

In March 2015, Randazzo entered into settlement discussions with FirstEnergy Corp. over its Electric 

Security Plan IV (or “ESP IV”), a case before the PUCO in which Randazzo had intervened on behalf 

of IEU-Ohio and filed objections. On March 25, 2015, in response to an email sent by Randazzo, 

Ebony Yeboah, a FirstEnergy lawyer, replied: “As we discussed and agreed any provisions for IEU-

Ohio pertaining to the ESP must be in our filed settlement or filed separately as a “side agreement”. I 

appreciate that your email below discusses ESP disputes and a number of unrelated disputes that we 
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are working to resolve. I think the email (although clear to me because I was on a call with you) can 

be read to blend the matters.” Nevertheless, on May 1, 2015, Randazzo sent an email to Yeboah 

containing a draft agreement and a message: “See attached for suggestions simplifying modifications 

to the SFA/FESC agreement.” Then, on May 28, 2015, Randazzo sent then-PUCO Chairman Barcy 

McNeal a letter notifying him that IEU-Ohio was withdrawing its witnesses and opposition to ESP-

IV. The amended agreement did not substantially modify any of the terms of the earlier 2013 

agreement, except that it provided for SFA-Ohio and Randazzo to receive an additional $8,549,998 

until 2024, in addition to the $2,100,000 already provided for in the 2013 agreement. The 2015 

amended agreement also required that “FirstEnergy Service Company executives will participate 

jointly with the Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio, in meetings with the President the Senate 

and Speaker of the House to explain needed adjustments to Senate Bill 310 streamlined opt out to 

mercantile customers” for an effective date of January 1, 2017. The 2015 agreement does not appear 

to have been signed by either party. Neither Randazzo nor FirstEnergy at any time notified the Ohio 

Joint Legislative Ethics Commission that Randazzo would serve as a paid legislative agent of 

FirstEnergy as a result of the “amended agreement.”  

 

The publicly available ESP IV settlement does contain settlement terms for IEU-Ohio, including 

favorable electricity rate terms for IEU-Ohio members. Neither Randazzo nor FirstEnergy Corp., 

however, disclosed the existence of a cash “side deal” for IEU-Ohio members. Because FirstEnergy 

Corp. was able to pay IEU-Ohio and Randazzo to withdraw IEU-Ohio’s opposition to ESP IV, 

FirstEnergy Corp. was able to obtain a favorable outcome before the PUCO. IEU-Ohio’s members 

and Randazzo obtained cash payments under the guise of a “consulting agreement.” FirstEnergy 

Service Corp. payments to Randazzo’s shell companies were made by means of wire transfers. 

  
  

Count Twenty-Six  Tampering with Records, §2913.42, F3 

Defendants Michael J. Dowling 

Date of Offense In a continuing course of conduct on or about 5/31/2017 through 

1/22/2021 

The Jurors of the Grand Jury of the State of Ohio, upon their oaths, further find that within Summit 

and/or Franklin Counties, the Defendant(s) unlawfully did, knowing he had no privilege to do so, and 

with purpose to defraud or knowing he was facilitating a fraud on the Joint Legislative Ethics 

Committee falsify, destroy, remove, conceal, alter, deface, or mutilate any writing, computer 

software, data, or record, to wit: Ohio Joint Legislative Ethics Committee AER Legislative Forms 

filed between 5/31/2017 through 1/22/2021 and the writing, data, computer software, or record was 

kept by or belonged to a local, state, or federal governmental entity.  

Between May 31, 2017 and January 22, 2021, FirstEnergy Senior Vice President of External Affairs 

Michael Dowling failed to include Samuel C. Randazzo as a paid lobbyist of FirstEnergy Corp. when 

the company submitted its AER Legislative notifications to the Joint Legislative Ethics Committee, 

despite the fact that Randazzo was working as a paid lobbyist on behalf of FirstEnergy for that time 

period and actively lobbying legislative officials on FirstEnergy’s behalf.  

  
  








